GRADING THE U.S. RESPONSE TO HOMELESSNESS

THE 2016 HUMAN RIGHT TO HOUSING REPORT CARD

Student: United States of America

CATEGORY	2016		
Security of Tenure			
Renters	F		
Homeowners	D		
Access to Counsel	D		
Criminalization of Homelessness	B+		
Domestic Violence	В		
Availability of Services, Materials & Infrastructure	D		
Affordability	F		
Accessibility	8-		
Habitability	D		
Location	8-		
Cultural Adequacy	0-		
Overall	D		

CRITERIA

We reviewed the federal response to homelessness over the past year and assigned grades to key actions (or failures to act) by executive agencies, Congress, and federal courts in protecting and advancing the human rights of homeless Americans. The eleven categories are derived from the UN Committee on Economic, Social & Cultural Rights framework defining the human right to housing. Grades were assigned based on the federal government's actions (laws passed, regulations issued, enforcement actions taken, resources provided) or inactions, and are current as of December 1, 2016. Starting with a "neutral" C grade, points were added or taken away based on these criteria, with + or – used to reflect nuance such as the significance of a law, the magnitude of harm, or the cost of inaction or inadequate action in the face of the ongoing crisis of homelessness. We do not grade specific states or localities, but activity at the state or local level, and the federal government's response or lack thereof, does impact the grades given.

NATIONAL LAW CENTER ON HOMELESSNESS & POVERTY

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Current Context is Dire...

In 2016, the United States continued to face a crisis of homelessness, brought on by a severe shortage of affordable housing. While according to some recent estimates certain types of homelessness have gone down in some regions of the country, overall homelessness remains an urgent national crisis.¹

- Close to 1.4 million school children were homeless during the 2013-2014 school year—and almost 2.5 million children overall were homeless in 2013.² The school numbers represent an 8% increase since the previous year, and have almost doubled since the beginning of the economic crisis in 2007.³
- 7 million people were doubled up, sleeping on the floors or couches of family or friends because they cannot afford their own housing, 52% higher than before the recession in 2007.⁴
- Across the country, there are fewer shelter beds than homeless people, and shelters are often over capacity.⁵
- Homeless encampments have been reported in every state in the country.⁶

Moreover, many communities have responded to the growth of homelessness not with more housing, but by increasing enforcement of laws criminalizing homelessness. A November 2016 National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty report, Housing Not Handcuffs, documented a 69% increase in city-wide bans on camping, 52% increase in city-wide bans on sitting or lying down, and a 143% increase in bans on sleeping in vehicles over the past ten years.7 These policies are tremendously expensive for communities, but result in further entrenching homelessness because the time and cost of interacting with the criminal justice system set people further back from having the resources to escape homelessness, and criminal records make it even harder for people experiencing homelessness to find a job or housing.8 In response, the Law Center, together with more than

100 other organizations, launched the <u>Housing Not Handcuffs Campaign</u> this fall to end the criminalization of homelessness and promote the human right to housing for all.

...So While the U.S. Government Took Some Steps in 2016...

Years of advocacy at the domestic and international levels continued to pay dividends this year as the federal government took further significant steps to fulfill its obligation to end the criminalization of homelessness and address race and sex discrimination in housing. ⁹ The U.S. also received and accepted further recommendations from the international level to address criminalization and the human right to housing.

Of particular note in 2016:

- 1. Federal agencies and the judiciary continued implementing human rights obligations to end the criminalization of homelessness. Human rights standards require legal protection against forced evictions, harassment, and other threats regardless of housing status. As stated above, criminalization of homelessness continued to rise in the United States, but the federal government took meaningful steps to reverse this tide.
 - o In July, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) issued its annual application for funding for \$1.9 billion in federal homeless assistance grants, increasing the points awarded to a question requiring applicants to explain "how they are reducing criminalization of homelessness," and providing new guidance on specific suggested strategies.¹⁰
 - The U.S. Department of Education (ED) issued guidance in July 2016 that, for the first time, advises education officials to coordinate with state and local legislatures to ensure local laws and policies, including those that criminalize homelessness, are not interfering

- with homeless students' ability to get to school and learn.¹¹
- The U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) reiterated its opposition to criminalization of homelessness, specifically referencing human rights language, in a comment letter to Seattle's City Council.¹²
- The White House launched the Data-Driven Justice Initiative, a bipartisan coalition of 130 city, county, and state governments who have "committed to using data-driven strategies to divert low-level offenders with mental illness out of the criminal justice system and change approaches to pre-trial incarceration, so that low-risk offenders no longer stay in jail simply because they cannot afford a bond."¹³
- Certain federal and municipal courts adopted the position of the DOJ brief in *Bell v. Boise*, which explained how criminally punishing homeless persons for their lack of housing where no alternative housing exists violates the Eighth Amendment protection against cruel and unusual punishment. 14
- Federal courts have similarly followed the 7th Circuit precedent in Norton v. Springfield, by ruling that anti-panhandling ordinances violate the First Amendment protection of freedom of speech.¹⁵
- 2. Federal agencies strengthened civil and human rights protections related to discrimination in housing. Human rights standards require the implementation of the right to housing on a non-discriminatory basis, which may require specific protections for historically-marginalized groups. In the United States, both housing discrimination and housing segregation on the basis on race, gender and other protected characteristics continues at a meaningful level.¹⁶
 - HUD published final regulations implementing the housing protections included in the 2013 Reauthorization of the Violence Against Women Act, specifically referencing them as implementing our human rights obligations;¹⁷

- HUD published final regulations protecting tenants and others from sexual and other harassment in housing;¹⁸
- HUD published final regulations ensuring transgender access to HUD-funded shelter and housing;¹⁹
- HUD issued guidance that limits the use of criminal records in housing decisions;²⁰
- HUD issued guidance and tools on Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing;²¹ and
- HUD and DOJ issued joint guidance on exclusionary zoning.²²
- The federal government committed to take action based on new U.N. Recommendations about criminalization of homelessness and the right to adequate housing. The U.S. attended a major international conference on housing and hosted official mission visits of several U.N. human rights experts.
 - on to the New Urban Agenda, "commit[ing] to promote national, sub-national, and local housing policies that support the progressive realization of the right to adequate housing for all," and "to combat homelessness as well as to combat and eliminate its criminalization through dedicated policies and targeted active inclusive and sustainable housing first programmes."²³
 - The U.S. hosted an official mission visit from the U.N. Working Group on People of African Descent which critiqued ongoing racial segregation and racial disparities in housing and homelessness (including the police response to homelessness).²⁴ It made recommendations to reform police conduct and uphold the right to adequate housing.²⁵
 - The UN Special Rapporteur on Freedom of Assembly and Association also conducted an official mission visit to the U.S., noting

"a number of cities have ordinances which prevent homeless people from gathering in certain public places, despite the fact that most have literally nowhere else to go."²⁶

O Both the DOJ and HUD hosted consultations with participation from civil society organizations and government officials to follow up on recommendations from previous human rights reviews, including those around criminalization of homelessness and the right to housing.²⁷

...Overall, the United States Government Continued to Fail to Ensure Adequate, Affordable Housing...

Years of neglecting affordable housing development at the local level compounded by ongoing Congressional budget cuts to HUD and other federal agencies have threatened the basic safety net for many people living in poverty even as real wages continue to drop.

- Congress' failure to apppropriate adequate funding means only one in four of those poor enough to qualify for low-income housing assistance receive some kind of assistance.²⁸
- HUD and the federal General Services Administration (GSA) have stymied efforts under Title V of the McKinney-Vento Act to convey vacant federal properties to homeless service providers, and Congress has, so far, failed to pass bills which would strengthen and streamline the application processs.²⁹
- Congress' failure to either adequately raise minimum wages and social security benefits, publicly fund affordable housing, or create proper incentives for private development of affordable housing means the number of cost-burdened households (paying more than 30 percent of income for housing) was 21.3 million in 2015, an increase of 3.6 million since 2008, and the number with severe burdens (more than 50% of income for housing) jumped to a record 11.4 million in 2015, an increase of 2.1 million since 2008.³⁰ A renter earning the federal minimum wage of

\$7.25 per hour would need to work 90 hours per week to afford a one-bedroom apartment, ³¹ and the national average monthly rent for of a one-bedroom apartment is more than an individual relying on Supplemental Security Income (SSI) entire monthly benefit.³²

...Thus, When We Judge the U.S. Response to Homelessness against the Human Right to Adequate Housing, the U.S. Is Passing, but Just Barely.

According to international standards, the human right to housing consists of seven elements:

- i. security of tenure: everyone needs legal protection against forced eviction and harassment—we examine separately renters, homeowners, and persons in emergency circumstances (homelessness generally and for those fleeing domestic violence)—as well as for access to legal counsel;
- ii. availability of services, materials, and infrastructure: adequate housing includes access to sanitation and emergency services, plumbing and electricity, etc.;
- **iii. affordability**: housing costs should not force people to choose between paying rent and paying for other basic needs (food, health, etc.);
- **iv. habitability**: housing must provide adequate space to protect against internal dangers (overcrowding) and external ones (weather, insects, hazards like lead, etc.);
- accessibility: accessibility of housing means physically accessible (for those facing disabilities, for example) and practically accessible (no discriminatory barriers for marginalized groups);
- vi. location: housing is more than four walls and a roof, but must exist in an environment with access to jobs, medical care, schools, etc., as well as not be threatened by pollution; and
- vii. cultural adequacy: housing and land use must

respect the cultural traditions of inhabitants, particularly, for example of indigenous persons.³³

Each of these elements is interdependent with the others, and for too many, it remains elusive.

Matthew Desmond's 2016 bestseller, *Evicted: Poverty and Profit in the American City,* brought to light this multi-dimensional housing crisis faced by too many communities. In it, Desmond illustrated how lack of affordability combined with renters' limited legal rights led to uninhabitable conditions, housing instability, and homelessness through a vicious cycle of evictions.³⁴ Homeowners in the U.S. continue to face foreclosures, and in some areas, the cost of water and sanitation are threatening residents' ability to

stay housed.³⁵ The failure to remedy these violations demonstrate the opposite of a human rights-based approach to housing.

A rights-based approach would ask, "What is the need, and how can we progressively meet it, through a combination of spending, regulation, or other tools?" Instead, we are faced with retrogressive cuts to already inadequate resources, with no proposed compensatory changes to other laws or regulations, that will certainly lead us further from full enjoyment of the right to housing.

The United States has taken important steps toward ensuring the right to adequate housing, but not enough of them, earning a collective grade of D.

Category	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Security of Tenure						
Renters	B-	C-	С	F	F	F
Homeowners	D+	D	D	D	D	D
Access to Counsel	D	F	D-	D-	D-	D
Criminalization of Homelessness	F	D-	D	D+	B+	B+
Domestic Violence	B-	С	A-	В	С	В
Availability of Services, Materials & Infrastructure	D	D	D	D	D-	D
Affordability	D	D	F	F	F	F
Habitability	C-	C-	D	D-	D	D
Accessibility	C-	C-	C-	С	С	B-
Location	D	D	D	D	В	B-
Cultural Adequacy	D	D	D	D	D	D-
Overall	D	D-	D	D	D+	D

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INCOMING TRUMP ADMINISTRATION AND I 15TH CONGRESS

In 2017, a new Congress begins and the Trump Administration will move into the White House in the context of an ongoing affordable housing crisis and widespread homelessness. Congress and the Administration must take affirmative steps to improve Americans' enjoyment of their fundamental right to affordable, safe, appropriate housing. To improve the U.S.'s score, we make the following recommendations to the incoming Administration and Congress in 2017:

- 1. Congress and HUD should allocate at least \$1 billion in new money per year to homelessness prevention programs, and expand HUD's definition of homelessness, consistent with ED, HHS, and other agencies, to include those living in doubled-up situations or in motels due to loss of housing or economic hardship.
- 2. Congress and HUD should ensure no person need pay more than 30 percent of their income on housing through a combination of new construction of subsidized units, universal vouchers, and funding the National Housing Trust Fund at a minimum of \$1 billion per year.
- 3. Congress and HUD, GSA, and the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services (HHS) should comply with, protect, and strengthen Title V of the McKinney-Vento Act, which requires vacant or underutilized federal property to be made available to homeless service providers at no cost, by increasing the number of useful properties made available and easing the application process.
- Congress, state and local governments must work together to ensure no person loses access to water or sanitation due to inability to pay, or loses their home due to an inability to pay a utility bill.
- 5. Congress, state, and local governments should pass protections for renters including just-cause eviction laws and the Permanently Protecting Tenants at Foreclosure Act, including a private right of action, and vest authority in the Consumer

- Protection Financial Bureau to regulate and enforce compliance.
- Congress, state, and local goverments should ensure a right to counsel in all civil cases involving the potential loss of housing or inadequate housing conditions, and significantly expand funding for legal aid services to facilitate the implementation of this right.
- 7. HUD, DOJ and other agencies should take concrete steps to stop local criminalization efforts by providing further incentives for constructive alternative approaches and decriminalization and aggressively pursuing enforcement action. States should support and enact Homeless Bills of Rights; local governments should stop enforcing laws that criminalize homelessness in the absence of shelter or housing, and provide adequate notice and adequate alternative housing before evicting homeless persons living in encampments.
- 8. HUD, the U.S. Department of Agriculture, and U.S. Department of the Treasury should fully implement the Violence Against Women Act's housing protections through regulation, guidance, and effective enforcement, and encourage states and municipalities to expand the Act's protections to housing that has no federal subsidy.
- 9. HUD should fully implement Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing and fund efforts to support compliance and enforcement.
- 10. Congress should increase the minimum wage and Supplemental Security Income benefits, so that both working and low-income disabled people can afford adequate housing as well as meet other basic needs while paying no more than 30 perecent of their income for housing.

ABOUT THE NATIONAL LAW CENTER ON HOMELESSNESS & POVERTY

The National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty is the only national organization dedicated solely to using the power of the law to end and prevent homelessness. We work with federal, state and local policymakers to draft laws that prevent people from losing their homes and to help people out of homelessness. We have been instrumental in enacting numerous federal laws, including the McKinney-Vento Act, the first major federal legislation to address homelessness. We helped enact the federal program that makes vacant government properties available at no cost to non-profits for use as facilities to assist people experiencing homelessness, and we ensure it is enforced including through litigation. We have won federal legal protections for tenants affected by the foreclosure crisis and we are working to make sure lenders comply with it.

We aggressively fight laws criminalizing homelessness and promote measures protecting the civil rights of people experiencing homelessness. We are advocating for proactive measures to ensure that those experiencing homelessness have access to housing, jobs, and public benefits even though they have no address so that they can escape homelessness. We are also upholding the right to vote for those who are experiencing homelessness. We work to improve access to housing for domestic violence survivors and their children and we were instrumental in adding landmark housing rights amendments to Violence Against Women Act.

We invalidate laws that prevent other charitable organizations from distributing food and social services to people experiencing poverty and homelessness.

We protect the right of children and youth experiencing homelessness to stay in school and get the support they need to succeed.

For more information about our organization, access to publications, and to contribute to our work, please visit our website at www.nlchp.org.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the funders whose support enables us to carry out our critical work, including Deer Creek Foundation, Herb Block Foundation, and Oakwood Foundation.

We thank the 2016 members of our Lawyers Executive Advisory partners (LEAP) program for their generous support of our organization: Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP; Arent Fox LLP; Covington & Burling LLP; Debovoise & Plimpton; Dechert LLP; DLA Piper; Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP; Goldman Sachs LLP; Goodwin Proctor LLP; Hogan Lovells US LLP; Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP; Latham & Watkins LLP; Manatt, Phelps & Phillips, LLP; Microsoft Corporation; Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP; Sheppard, Mullin, Richter & Hampton LLP; Sidley Austin LLP; Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP; Sullivan & Cromwell LLP; and WilmerHale.

This report card is an annual evaluation based on our 2011 report "Simply Unacceptable: Homelessness & the Human Right to Housing in the United States." That report and this update were drafted by Eric S. Tars. Esther Birlin-Spake provided assistance in researching and updating this edition, and Janelle Fernandez, Janet Hostetler, Michael Santos, and Maria Foscarinis provided expert editorial guidance.

Parts of this report are drawn from the 2014 report *Housing and Homelessness in the United States of America:* Submission to the United Nations Universal Periodic Review of the United States of America, coordinated by the Law Center, which had sections drafted by Toussaint Losier, Chicago Anti-Eviction Campaign; Michael Stoops, National Coalition for the Homeless; Jorge Soto, National Fair Housing Alliance; Sham Manglik and Linda Couch, National Low Income Housing Coalition; and Anne Holcomb, Unity Parenting and Counseling, Inc. John Pollock, National Coalition for a Civil Right to Counsel, drafted the section on access to counsel. We thank our partners for their contributions!

The Law Center would also like to thank Megan Godbey for the report design and layout.

LAW CENTER BOARD OF DIRECTORS*

Edward McNicholas

Chair Sidley Austin LLP

Bruce Rosenblum

Vice-Chair
The Carlyle Group

Kirsten Johnson-Obey

Secretary NeighborWorks

Robert C. Ryan

Treasurer
Ports America

Maria Foscarinis

President Executive Director NLCHP

Eric Bensky

Schulte, Roth & Zabel LLP

Paul F. Caron

Microsoft Corporation Bruce Casino Attorney

Rajib Chanda

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP

Dennis Dorgan

Fundraising Consultant

Dwight Fettig

Porterfield, Lowenthal, Fettig & Sears LLC

Julia M. Jordan

Sullivan & Cromwell LLP

J. Steven Judge

Private Equity Growth Capital Council (retired)

Father Alexander Karloutsos

Greek Orthodox Archdiocese of America **Georgia Kazakis**

Covington & Burling LLP

Pamela Malester

Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services (retired)

Tashena Middleton Moore

Attorney

G.W. Rolle

Missio Dei Church

Erin Sermeus

OWN TV

Jeffrey Simes

Goodwin Procter LLP

Vasiliki Tsaganos

Robert Warren

People for Fairness Coalition

*Affiliations for identification purposes only

LAW CENTER STAFF

Diane Aten

Director of Development & Communications

LaToya Ball

Administrative Manager

Tristia Bauman

Senior Attorney

Grace Beal

Development & Communications
Assistant

Jenifer Brewer

AmeriCorps VISTA Member, Data Management

Janelle Fernandez

Law & Policy Program Coordinator

Maria Foscarinis

Executive Director

Janet Hostetler

Deputy Director

Linaise Lima

AmeriCorps VISTA Member,
Development & Communications

LaTissia Mitchell

Executive & Development Specialist

Michael Santos

Attorney

Eric Tars

Senior Attorney

CONTENTS

- **2 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**
- 7 ABOUT THE NATIONAL LAW CENTER ON HOMELESSNESS & POVERTY
- 8 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
- 11 INTRODUCTION
- 14 A. Security of Tenure
- 14 Renters: F
- 15 Homeowners: D
- 15 Access to Counsel: D
- 16 Criminalization of Homelessness: B+
- 19 Domestic Violence: B
- 20 B. Availability of Services, Materials, and Infrastructure: D
- 22 C. Affordability: F
- 23 D. Habitability: D
- 24 E. Accessibility: B-
- 25 F. Location: B-
- 25 G. Cultural Adequacy: D-
- **27 RECOMMENDATIONS**

INTRODUCTION

This report card assesses the current level of U.S. compliance with the international human right to housing in in its response to homelessness. In doing so, we primarily consider the steps the federal government has taken to end and prevent homelessness, with reference to state and local practices where relevant. It is not, and is not intended to be, a comprehensive review or assessment of implementation of all aspects of the right to housing, which is interconnected and interdependent with the enjoyment of many other civil, political, economic, social, and cultural rights. Our much more comprehensive 2011 report, *Simply Unacceptable: Homelessness & the Human Right to Housing in the U.S.*, goes into more depth in its analysis.³⁶

HOMELESSNESS AND THE HUMAN RIGHT TO HOUSING UNDER INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS

The U.N. Committee on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights, made up of leading global experts, has provided the following framework to define the human right to housing according to seven elements: ³⁷

- (1) **security of tenure**: everyone needs legal protection against forced eviction and harassment—we examine separately renters, homeowners, and persons in emergency circumstances (homelessness generally and for those fleeing domestic violence)—as well as for access to legal counsel;³⁸
- (2) availability of services, materials, and infrastructure: adequate housing includes access to sanitation and emergency services, plumbing and electricity, etc.;³⁹
- (3) **affordability**: housing costs should not force people to choose between paying rent and paying for other basic needs (food, health, etc.);⁴⁰
- (4) habitability: housing must provide adequate space to protect against internal dangers (overcrowding) and external ones (weather,

insects, hazards like lead, etc.);41

- (5) **accessibility**: accessibility of housing means physically accessible (for those facing disabilities, for example) and practically accessible (no discriminatory barriers for marginalized groups);⁴²
- (6) **location**: housing is more than four walls and a roof, but must exist in an environment with access to jobs, medical care, schools, etc., as well as not be threatened by pollution;⁴³ and
- (7) **cultural adequacy:** housing and land use must respect the cultural traditions of inhabitants.⁴⁴

Human rights standards require that countries take progressive steps to respect, protect, and fulfill the right, to the maximum of the country's available resources, in a non-discriminatory manner.⁴⁵ The government can use a wide variety of measures, from market regulation to subsidies, public-private partnerships to tax policy, to help ensure the right. Implementing the human right to housing would *not* require the government to immediately build a home for each person in America or to provide housing for all, free of charge. But it does require much more than the U.S. is doing now, and more than a mere provision of emergency shelter—it requires affirmative steps to be taken to ensure fully adequate housing, based on all the criteria outlined above.

HOLDING THE UNITED STATES ACCOUNTABLE

While this report card is based on a qualitative rather than a quantitative assessment, it endeavors to assess the nation's performance based on available quantitative data. The Economic and Social Rights Fulfillment (ESRF) Index assesses how well countries perform in meeting economic and social rights, such as the right to housing, in light of their available resources.⁴⁶ In 2013, the most recent year for which housing data is available, out of the 21 high-income countries analyzed, the U.S. received one of the worst scores, fulfilling only 76.38% of their obligations, a decrease from 78.72% in 2012.⁴⁷ The fulfillment of

obligations differed significantly between states and across racial groups.⁴⁸ In a state-by-state assessment, Wyoming fulfilled 79.12% of its obligations in regard to adequate housing, while California fulfilled only 11.68% of its obligations.⁴⁹ The fifty states, on average, fulfilled just over 45% of their adequate housing obligations.⁵⁰

Consistent with these findings, our report card shows there is much work for the U.S. to do in its response to homelessness in order to realize the right to housing. We reviewed the federal response to homelessness over the past year and assigned grades to key actions (or failures to act) by executive agencies, Congress, and federal courts in protecting and advancing the human rights of homeless Americans. Grades were assigned based on the federal government's actions (laws passed, regulations issued, enforcement actions taken, resources provided) or inactions, and are current as of December 1, 2016. We have given a letter-grade ranking for the current status of each aspect of the right. Grades were assigned based on the following criteria:

- 1) Was a law passed or policy adopted that protects the right to housing?
- 2) Are laws that are in place to protect the right to housing being implemented and enforced?
- 3) Have laws been enacted or are laws being enforced that undermine the right to housing?
- 4) Have resources to further the right to housing been added or are they being taken away?

We do not grade specific states or localities, but activity at the state or local level, and the federal government's response, or lack thereof, does impact the grades given. Starting with a "neutral" C grade, points were added or taken away based on these criteria, with + or – used to reflect nuance such as the significance of a law, the magnitude of harm, or the cost of inaction in the face of the ongoing crisis of homelessness.

We recognize that for many Americans, the overall enjoyment of housing rights is better in the U.S. than it would be in some developing nations, but the human right to housing is one that is progressively realized based on the resources available to the country. Given that the U.S. is still the wealthiest nation in the world, with a well-developed democratic and judicial system, we need to hold ourselves to a higher standard. Our failure to meet those standards is reflected in the grades assigned in this report.

CURRENT CONTEXT

In 2016, the United States continued to face a crisis of homelessness, brought on by a severe shortage of affordable housing. Even before the foreclosure crisis and economic recession starting in 2007, an estimated 2.5 to 3.5 million men, women, and children were experiencing homelessness annually, including at least 1.35 million children, and over a million people working full- or part-time but unable to pay for housing.⁵¹

Since then, while the recession technically ended in 2009,⁵² the affordability crisis has continued to deepen:

- According to a 2016 report by the Joint Center for Housing Studies at Harvard University, the number of cost-burdened households (paying more than 30 percent of income for housing) was 21.3 million in 2015, an increase of 3.6 million since 2008, and the number with severe burdens (more than 50 percent of income for housing) jumped to a record 11.4 million in 2014, an increase of 2.1 million since 2008.⁵³ The number of cost-burdened renters has increased each year since 2008.⁵⁴
- The safety net has failed to support needy families in this atmosphere of dire housing need. Only one in four of those poor enough to qualify for low-income housing assistance receive some kind of assistance. To Close to 1.4 million school children were homeless during the 2013-2014 school year—and almost 2.5 million children overall were homeless in 2013. The school numbers represent an 8% increase since the previous year, and have almost doubled since the beginning of the economic crisis in 2007.
- Homeless encampments now exist in every state

in the country.58

• The number of people who have lost their homes and are living doubled up with family or friends due to economic necessity stood at 7 million people in 2014, a slight decline since 2013, but still 52% higher than before the recession in 2007.

59 While the Department of Housing and Urban Development reported an overall decline of 2% in homelessness nationally based on a single night's count in 2015, 60 this count is based on a severely limited and flawed method that almost certainly misses large numbers of homless people. 61

Moreover, many communities have responded to the growth of homelessness not with more housing, but by increasing enforcement of laws criminalizing homelessness. A November 2016 Law Center report, Housing Not Handcuffs, surveyed 187 cities across the country and documented a 69% increase in city-wide bans on camping, 52% increase in city-wide bans on sitting or lying down, and a 143% increase in bans on sleeping in vehicles over the past ten years.⁶² These policies are tremendously expensive for communities, but result in further entrenching homelessness because the time and cost of interacting with the criminal justice system set people further back from having the resources to escape homelessness, and criminal records make it even harder for people experiencing homelessness to find jobs or housing.

THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT AND THE HUMAN RIGHT TO HOUSING

In 1948, the U.S. was an international leader in promoting the human right to housing. It led the world in shaping the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which provides, among other things, that "everyone has the right to an adequate standard of living... including the right to housing." The following year, the 1949 Federal Housing Act stated a *goal* of "a decent home and suitable living arrangement for every American family," but that goal was never enshrined as a *right* for every American in domestic law.⁶⁴

The United States signed the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) in 1979, recognizing the human right to housing, but the Senate has not yet ratified that treaty.⁶⁵ Under international law, countries that sign a treaty are obligated to refrain from actions that would defeat the "object and purpose" of that treaty, even before ratification.⁶⁶

More recently, the U.S. has hinted at signs of its possible interest in revitalizing the human right to housing. In 2010, President Obama stated that it is "simply unacceptable for individuals, children, families and our nation's veterans to be faced with homelessness in this country."67 In March 2011, the U.S. acknowledged for the first time that rising homelessness implicates its human rights obligations and made commitments to the United Nations (U.N.) Human Rights Council to "reduce homelessness," "reinforce safeguards to protect the rights" of homeless people, and continue efforts to ensure access to affordable housing for all.68 In 2015, the U.S. government supported, in part, a recommendation from the Human Rights Council to "Guarantee the right by all residents in the country to adequate housing, food, health and education, with the aim of decreasing poverty, which affects 48 millions of people in the country."69

In 2015, the U.S. also signed on to the U.N. Sustainable Development Goals, including goal 11 on Sustainable Cities and Communities pledging to make cities inclusive, resilient, safe and sustainable.70 And in October 2016, the U.S. signed on to the New Urban Agenda, the outcome report of the U.N. Habitat III conference. 71 The signatories "commit to promote national, sub-national, and local housing policies that support the progressive realization of the right to adequate housing for all as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living, that address all forms of discrimination and violence, prevent arbitrary forced evictions, and that focus on the needs of the homeless, persons in vulnerable situations, low income groups, and persons with disabilities, while enabling participation and engagement of communities and relevant stakeholders, in the planning and implementation of these policies including supporting the social production of habitat, according to national legislations and standards."72 The Agenda also stated "we commit to combat homelessness as well as to combat and eliminate its criminalization through dedicated policies and targeted active inclusion strategies, such as comprehensive, inclusive and sustainable housing first programmes."73

Domestically, the government has missed great opportunities to fully embrace a rightsbased approach to housing. Internationally, the government has acknowledged housing as a "right" to be implemented progressively while qualifying our lack of legal obligations. However, despite lack of ratification of the ICESCR, we retain a legal obligation not to undermine the object and purpose of that treaty.74 Thus, while not fully embracing a legally binding human right to housing framework, the federal government has a basic legal responsibility not to undermine the right to housing.

A. SECURITY OF TENURE

Legal security of tenure refers to a tenant's guarantee of legal protection against forced eviction, harassment and other threats.⁷⁵ According to the Committee on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights:

Tenure takes a variety of forms, including rental (public and private) accommodation, cooperative housing, lease, owner-occupation, emergency housing and informal settlements, including occupation of land or property. Notwithstanding the type of tenure, all persons should possess a degree of security of tenure which guarantees legal protection against forced eviction, harassment and other threats. States parties should consequently take immediate measures aimed at conferring legal security of tenure upon those persons and households currently lacking such protection, in genuine consultation with affected persons and groups."⁷⁶

This section will examine U.S. laws and policies that affect the legal security of tenure of tenants and homeowners—and specifically their access to legal counsel—and persons facing emergency and dire circumstances, including persons experiencing homelessness who are facing criminalization for simply trying to survive outdoors, and those fleeing domestic violence, to evaluate successes and failures of U.S. protection of this aspect of the human right to housing.

RENTERS: F

In 2016, Matthew Desmond's Evicted: Poverty and Profit in the American City shone a new light on the extreme challenges faced by low-income renters in America.⁷⁷ The best-selling book built on academic work looking at the intersectional nature of the low-income rental crisis where, for far too many U.S. households, housing is unaffordable, uninhabitable, and unstable.78 There is a shortage of legal protections for many renters. In a few cities and states, landlords are limited to evictions for "just cause" (nonpayment of rent or other breach of the lease), but in many, renters can be evicted for no cause whatsoever.⁷⁹ Even where legal protections exist, often they can be circumvented by informal eviction measures or landlords bank on the lack of legal knowledge and assistance to tenants to make these protections moot.80

Rental properties constitute 20% of all foreclosures, and of families facing eviction due to foreclosure, approximately 40% are renters.81 Many of these renters are completely unaware that their building owners have received foreclosure notices until a new owner evicts them. "I came home from work last night and the locks were changed," reported one tenant, who had paid his rent on time and was unaware of any pending foreclosure.82 Some states have enacted protections for tenants in these situations.83 The landmark federal law, Protecting Tenants at Foreclosure Act (PTFA), provided some crucial federal protections for renters in foreclosure when it was in effect from 2009-2014. Bills aiming to make the PTFA permanent have been introduced in the House and Senate, but they have yet to pass.84 Consequently, many renters, who are disproportionately low income and people of color, continue to lose their homes and face homelessness—due to their landlords' foreclosures.85

Due to the desperate crisis in rental affordablity, which compounds problems with renters security of tenure, and Congress' failure to take action on the PTFA, the U.S. receives an "F."

HOMEOWNERS: D

From 2008 until May 2014, there were over 5 million foreclosures, representing 10% of all homes with a mortgage. In September of 2016 alone, foreclosure notices were filed against one in every 1592 housing units This Pelaware, this rate is as high as one in every 674 units. This rate has improved since its peak in 2010, but it is still much higher than the rate in 2006 before the crisis. Whereras the national foreclosure inventory went down 25.9% between June 2015 and 2016 and completed forclosures went down by 4.9%, there were still 38,000 completed forclosures between June 2015 and June 2016.

Many of these foreclosures were preceded by predatory lending practices, which target primarily poor and minority borrowers with agreements that incorporated *insecure* tenure by their terms, due to payment conditions borrowers could not sustain.⁹¹

During the foreclosure crisis, many banks received billions in public dollars to maintain their financial stability, with no corresponding commitment to keeping victims of foreclosure in their homes, thereby spending the nation's "available resources," but not in a way that progressively realizes the human right to housing. 92

Although federal and state governments reached a National Mortgage Settlement in February 2012 to bring \$26 billion in relief to nearly two million current and former homeowners, this settlement did not address the targeting of minority borrowers. Moreover, this settlement excluded government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs) Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, thereby leaving out half of the mortgages in the U.S.⁹³ By exempting the majority of mortgages, this settlement failed to address the dire housing concerns of millions of families who have suffered from illegal lending practices and face potential homelessness, even though the federal government could easily intervene in the foreclosure process through the Federal Housing Finance Agency.⁹⁴

The U.N. Working Group On People of African Descent, in its report on its 2016 mission to the U.S., specifically noted its concern that "African Americans in many cities are facing a housing crisis, in which people are not able to pay their rents or mortgages, and even

less to purchase a new house, and are subsequently subject to de facto gentrification."95

While the number of foreclosures is slowing, the federal government's ongoing failure to take adequate steps to help keep people in their homes results in a "D" grade.

ACCESS TO COUNSEL: D

For both homeowners and renters, a major hurdle in protecting an individual or family's right to legal security of tenure is the lack of access to legal counsel. One cannot effectively fight evictions, foreclosures or other disputes with landlords or banks without the aid of someone knowledgeable with the intricacies of the legal system. The Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights has noted that ensuring effective judicial remedies (including by providing access to counsel) for the right to adequate housing is an immediate obligation of States, since there cannot be a right without a remedy to protect it. 96

Because racial minorities are disproportionately poor, their housing needs suffer the greatest from the lack of civil counsel. In its Concluding Observations in the 2008 U.S. report, the Committee on Elimination of Racial Discrimination recognized these effects and recommended that the U.S. "allocate sufficient resources to ensure legal representation of indigent persons belonging to racial, ethnic and national minorities in civil proceedings, with particular regard to those proceedings where basic human needs, such as housing, health care, or child custody, are at stake."

With one limited exception, no court or legislature anywhere in the U.S. has recognized a right to counsel in housing matters such as evictions, foreclosures, or housing discrimination.⁹⁸ This has led to a situation where, in many areas of the country, more than 90% of foreclosure and eviction defendants are unrepresented, while landlords and mortgage holders are represented 90% of the time.⁹⁹ Lack of access to counsel leads to insecure tenure and wrongful foreclosures and evictions for many low-income homeowners and tenants in the U.S.,¹⁰⁰ which in turn can lead to homelessness, increased health concerns, job loss, loss of child custody, encounters with the criminal justice system, and destabilized educational

opportunities for children.101

This justice gap is particularly stark when compared to other countries. The World Justice Project's Rule of Law Index, which measures experience of the rule of law through 100,000 individual and 2,400 expert surveys in countries around the globe, routinely ranks the U.S. at or near the bottom of industrialized countries for accessibility and affordability of the civil justice system. The 2016 Rule of Law Index placed the United States 94th overall out of 113 countries on accessibility and affordability of civil justice, dropping 30 places since last year, and below every country in Europe, and many in the rest of the world.¹⁰²

Bills introduced in New York City and Washington, DC would provide a right to counsel for low-income residents in eviction and foreclosure proceedings. 103 In New York, a veto-proof majority of the City Council has signed on to the bill, and it has received endorsements from the City Comptroller¹⁰⁴ and the Chief Judge of the New York Courts. 105 The bill received its first committee hearing on September 26, 2016, at which 70 people testified in favor of the bill. Bills were also introduced that would provide a right to counsel statewide in housing cases, although they are not predicted to become law this year. 106 In June 2015 New York City created the Office of Civil Justice. 107 In their first annual report they found that the increase in the legal services investments concerning housing (resulting in 27% of tenants being represented, compared to 1% prior to the investment) has already had an impact.¹⁰⁸ Compared to 2013, residential evictions by city marshals have already declined by 24% in 2015. Furthermore, orders to show cause by tenants have declined "nearly 14%, while the volume of residential eviction cases filed remained largely stable."109 These numbers suggest higher efficiency in courts due to broader legal representation.¹¹⁰ Washington, D.C. has also introduced a bill that would create a right to counsel in eviction hearings for low income residents.¹¹¹ The bill had its first hearing on October 19, 2016.112

In Pennsylvania, a bill was introduced in 2016 that would guarantee representation for indigent defendants in civil forfeiture proceedings where the property subject to forfeiture is real property.¹¹³

At the federal level, the White House created the Legal Assistance Interagency Roundtable in late 2015, charging it specifically with implementing Goal 16 of the U.N. Sustainable Development Goals on access to justice.¹¹⁴ The Roundtable held a consultation with non-governmental organizations in September of this year to inform measures for marking progress on implementing Goal 16.¹¹⁵ However, to date, no draft has been forthcoming, so while promising, much remains to be seen on how the government will work to ensure the goal is being met.

Pilot projects and new proposed laws focused on improving access to counsel in housing cases and the White House's positive initial steps on implementing Goal 16 of the Sustainable Development Goals, push the U.S. to a "D" rather than an "D-" this year, but the lack of tangible improvement for the vast majority of jurisdictions keep the grade from going higher.

CRIMINALIZATION OF HOMELESSNESS: 8+

Under international human rights standards, where individuals have no legal home, their legal security of tenure attaches to wherever they are in their emergency and dire circumstances, and requires, at a minimum, that they be free from forced eviction, harassment, or other threats. Numerous human rights monitors have recently condemned criminalization of homelessness as violation the rights to be free from cruel, inhuman, and degrading treatment; liberty; non-discrimination; and other rights. In 2016, the U.N. Special Rapportuer on the right to adequate housing focused her annual report on homelessness and stated to comply with human rights law:

- ...(e) Any and all laws or measures that criminalize, impose fines on or restrict homeless people or behaviour associated with being homeless, such as sleeping or eating in public spaces, must be immediately repealed;
- (f) Homeless people must be recognized as a protected group in all relevant domestic antidiscrimination and hate-crime laws, including where relevant in national Constitutions, national and subnational human rights legislation and in city charters;

(g) A careful review of existing legislation and policies must be undertaken to ensure that those that include discriminatory intent or effect against people who are homeless are repealed or amended, in compliance with international human rights law. Funding or transfer payments for local programmes should be made conditional on the elimination of all laws that criminalize or discriminate against homeless persons;...¹¹⁸

However, despite a dire lack of adequate shelter and affordable housing, homeless persons in the U.S. increasingly face just such evictions and harassment as they are criminalized for engaging in necessary, lifesustaining activities—like sleeping and sitting—that they often have no choice but to perform in public spaces.¹¹⁹ Over the past ten years, laws criminally or civilly punishing camping in public throughout entire cities has increased by 69%.¹²⁰ Worse yet, laws prohibiting people from living in their vehicles have increased by 143% since that period.¹²¹ Moreover, communities routinely engage in forced evictions or "sweeps" of homeless encampments with little notice and no provision of alternative housing, often destroying important documents, medicines, and what little shelter the victims have. 122

Not only does criminalization fail to address the root causes of homelessness, it is actually counterproductive. It saddles homeless individuals with criminal records, making it more difficult for them to secure or maintain employment, housing, and benefits; burdens the criminal justice system; and violates homeless individuals' civil and human rights.¹²³

In the face of ongoing attacks, a few cities and states have provided affirmative protections for homeless persons. In February 2016, Indianapolis became the first city to require by law that adequate alternative housing be offered before a homeless encampment can be evicted. 124 Three states have passed homeless bills of rights in response to discrimination against homeless persons, but their coverage is limited and enforcement is uncertain. 125 New proposals have been introduced in California, Colorado, Delaware, Hawai'i, and Oregon, but have faced challenges in their enactment. 126 At the national level, the Law Center, together with more than 100 other organizations, launched the Housing Not Handcuffs Campaign this fall to end the criminalization of homelessness and

promote the human right to housing for all.

Moreover, the degrading and dehumanizing climate produced by criminalization ordinances promotes hate crimes and violence against people experiencing homelessness by private individuals. Criminalization makes homeless persons less likely to seek assistance from law enforcement when homeless individuals face threats, and the stigma attached to criminalization promotes the dehumanization of homeless individuals and tacitly encourages private attacks against them. From 1999-2015, housed individuals perpetrated 1,657 acts of violence against homeless individuals¹²⁷ in 48 states, Puerto Rico, and the District of Columbia, resulting in 428 deaths, 128 though many more may go unreported. 129 The federal government does not currently recognize homelessness as a protected class under its hate crimes statute, but several states have done so, for sentencing and/or tracking purposes. 130 These crimes, including an array of atrocities from murder to beatings, rapes, and even mutilation, are believed to have been motivated by the perpetrators' biases against homeless individuals or by their ability to target homeless people with relative ease. The most crimes occur in states with the highest rates of criminalization, including California, with 25% of the attacks against persons experiencing homelessness in 2014-15, and Florida, with 18%.¹³¹ Lack of access to housing and services for homeless youth also places them at higher risk for violence. A survey of unaccompanied homeless youth in Illinois found 61% reported being victims of violent crimes, including theft, burglary, and physical or sexual assault.132

The international community has developed a clear and consistent record condemning the criminalization of homelessness in the U.S. as violating our human rights obligations.¹³³ In 2016, the U.S. hosted two official mission visits from UN experts and that build that record:

The U.N. Working Group on People of African Descent critiqued the police response criminalizing those experiencing homelessness. In many communities, homelessness disparately affects racial minorities, and because homeless individuals must spend their lives in public, they are particularly exposed to profiling and disparate enforcement by police. In 2015, the Department of Justice published the 21st Century

Policing Task Force report, encouraging police to adopt a "guardian" rather than "warrior" approach, providing an opening for advocates to address homeless persons concerns, along with other issues as police departments work to implement the report's recommendations. The Working Group made recommendations to reform police conduct according to the 21st Century Policing Guidelines, eliminate pre-trial detention and fines based upon inability to pay, uphold the right to adequate housing, and halt the demolition of public housing unless alternative affordable units are ensured. The surface of the surfac

• The U.N. Special Rapporteur on Freedom of Assembly and Association commented specifically on the intimidation of marginalized groups such as homeless people, and noted "a number of cities have ordinances which prevent homeless people from gathering in certain public places, despite the fact that most have literally nowhere else to go." 138

Additionally, the U.N. Special Rapporteur on the Rights to Water and Sanitation noted in his report on gender and access to water and sanitation his concern that "Some countries criminalize open defecation while at the same time closing down public sanitation facilities. Public urination and defecation is often criminalized and laws that aim to keep cities clean may discriminate against homeless persons who have no other option but to relieve themselves in the open. Among them are many women and girls in desperate need of an adequate facility that offers privacy." 139

At the U.N. Habitat III conference, the U.S. signed on to the New Urban Agenda, "commit[ing] to combat homelessness as well as to combat and eliminate its criminalization through dedicated policies and targeted active inclusion strategies, such as comprehensive, inclusive and sustainable housing first programmes." ¹⁴⁰

This year we are happy to report another strong year of federal government action to reduce criminalization of homelessness, in response to international attention and domestic advocacy. Following a 2009 congressional mandate that it address the issue, the U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness (USICH)

issued a report, *Searching Out Solutions*,¹⁴¹ in 2012, and since that time has referred to criminalization of homelessness as a human rights violation.¹⁴²

U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development (HUD). In July, HUD issued its annual application for funding for \$1.9 billion in federal homeless assistance grants, increasing the points awarded to a question requiring applicants to explain "how they are reducing criminalization of homelessness," and providing new guidance on specific suggested strategies. 143 Additionally, the May 2016 phone meeting for the Mayor's Challenge to End Veteran Homelessness focused on criminalization of homelessness, with HUD Secretary Julian Castro and other top officials reiterating to participating mayors that they will not succeed in ending veterans homelessness if they continue to pursue criminalization approaches. 144

<u>U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ)</u>. In August 2015, the DOJ filed a brief stating its position that criminalization of homelessness can be unconstitutional, ¹⁴⁵ and this year affirmed that this position was an "acknowledgement of the human rights of people experiencing homelessness." ¹⁴⁶ The DOJ made this statement in an letter to Seattle's City Council, commending a proposed bill that ensures homeless persons living in encampments are placed into housing or safe, secure alternative accommodations before a homeless encampment is evicted. ¹⁴⁷

Additionally, just following the issuance of last year's Report Card, DOJ's Community Oriented Policing Services December 2015 newsletter was dedicated to positive alternatives to the criminalization of homelessness, and an article by the USICH Director discussed "[the government's] commitment to communities pursue alternatives criminalizing homelessness in response to the Human Rights Council's recommendation to 'amend laws that criminalize homelessness."148 Further, DOJ issued guidance and grants to discourage the excessive use of fines and fees, and their non-payment as a reason for incarceration, 149 and filed a statement of interest brief in Walker v. Calhoun, stating bail practices of detaining indigent defendants before trial without a court's meaningful consideration of the individual's ability to pay violate the 14th Amendment.150

U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness (USICH). USICH continued to coordinate federal agencies against criminalization, listing its commitment to "engage communities to reduce the criminalization of homelessness and criminal justice involvement among people experiencing homelessness" as among its top priorities in 2016. ¹⁵¹ Included in its 10 Strategies to End Chronic Homelessness, was a recommendation to partner with law enforcement, prisons, jails, and hospitals to conduct both in-reach and outreach to reduce the cycle between homelessness and criminal justice system involvement." ¹⁵²

<u>U.S. Department of Education (ED)</u>. This year, for the first time, the Department of Education contributed to the cross-agency push against criminalization with its July 2016 guidance on implementing the new provisions of the Every Student Succeeds Act. The guidance specifically advises education personnel to coordinate with state and local legislatures to ensure local laws and policies, particularly status offense laws and other laws that serve to criminalize homelessness, are not interfering with homeless students' ability to get to school and learn.¹⁵³

White House

In June 2016, the White House launched the Data-Driven Justice Initiative, a bipartisan coalition of 130 city, county, and state governments who have "committed to using data-driven strategies to divert low-level offenders with mental illness out of the criminal justice system and change approaches to pre-trial incarceration, so that low-risk offenders no longer stay in jail simply because they cannot afford a bond." The Law Center together with other organizations are supporting the Initiative's cities and counties in reforming laws and policies that unnecessarily entangle homeless persons in the criminal justice system.

Federal Courts

In addition, numerous courts have continued to follow the position of the DOJ brief in *Bell v. Boise*, ruling that criminally punishing homeless individuals for sleeping or other life-sustaining behavior in the absence of adequate alternatives is cruel and unusual punishment.¹⁵⁵ Courts have similarly followed the 7th Circuit precedent in *Norton v. Springfield* in the

overturning of panhandling laws across the country as overly restrictive of freedom of speech. 156

The combined legal and policy actions from DOJ, HUD's increased funding incentives, ED's guidance, and the USICH guidance put the enforcement teeth of the federal government into the longstanding policy against criminalization. Several communities have already announced they would be amending laws on the books, or discarding proposed criminalization ordinances, but other communities continue to enact ordinances. We reward the continued federal actions by keeping the grade at B+ this year, but the federal government can still be doing more, and until we see the full impact of these actions at the local level, we cannot increase the grade further.

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE: **B**

According to the U.N. Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, "All women should possess a legal degree of security of tenure that guarantees protection against forced eviction caused by ... domestic or household violence....It is incumbent upon States parties to take into account any discriminatory effects of apparently sex-neutral laws, policies and programmes, develop monitoring systems, design and implement programmes that give longterm effect to women's economic, social and cultural rights." 157 The U.N. Special Rapporteur on Violence Against Women noted: "In order to flee violent situations, women and girls must have the right to adequate housing enforced. Adequate housing refers not only to sufficient housing options, but also to secure ones. Lack of access to and availability of housing options for women seeking security puts women's lives at risk."158

Domestic violence is a leading cause of homelessness in the U.S., particularly for women and children. More than 90% of homeless women report having experienced severe physical or sexual abuse, and many victims of abuse become homeless after escaping violence because adequate housing is not available. For those survivors of economic abuse, escape from a dangerous situation can mean facing homelessness because there are no housing options available to someone with a ruined credit history, eviction record, or criminal record, even if those records are a direct result of being a victim of

relationship violence.¹⁶⁰ Even worse, victims who seek police or medical assistance are sometimes evicted due to nuisance ordinances, forcing survivors to have to choose between staying with their abuser or becoming homeless.¹⁶¹

The Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) of 2005 created new housing rights for survivors in some federally subsidized housing. The 2013 reauthorization of the law expanded these protections to over 4 million additional federally subsidized housing programs; included survivors of sexual assault as a protected group; added a requirement that public housing authorities provide notice to tenants of their housing rights; and created an emergency transfer policy. In October 2016, HUD finalized its VAWA implementation regulations, taking into account many of the comments and recommendations proposed by advocates, including key ones to ensure economic abuse survivors are protected.¹⁶² In an unprecedented step, the regulations state: "The implementation of the policies laid out in this rule will help to enforce this basic human right," the first time regulations have directly referenced their role in enforcing human rights standards.¹⁶³ As important as these federal protections are, they only cover the 4.9 million federally-funded rental households—just 12% of the estimated 41 million rental households in the United States. 164

HUD also continued to use its enforcement authority under the Fair Housing Act to combat housing discrimination against victims of domestic violence. In September 2016, HUD issued guidance targeting local nuisance and crime-free housing ordinances that penalize victims when police are called "too often" to a certain residence. The guidance explains how nuisance ordinances as applied to victims may violate the Fair Housing Act. HUD also issued guidance formalizing legal standards for harassment in housing, including sexual harassment, as prohibited under the federal Fair Housing Act.

Nearly every state has enacted some protections that expand housing protections for survivors, but it is important to note that only few states have expanded VAWA's non-discrimination provisions to private landlords, leaving many households still unprotected.¹⁶⁸ State and local protections include providing a defense from eviction due to the abuse, allowing early lease termination due to domestic

violence, changing locks to protect survivors from abusers, obligating abusers to provide for the survivor, and protecting the confidentiality of survivors' records. 169

While efforts by HUD and individual states are commendable, there is still a lot of work to be done to fill legal gaps and to ensure proper implementation of VAWA 2013. HUD still needs to provide additional guidance technical assistance, and training. Furthermore, HUD has not yet announced the official process for enforcing VAWA 2013 across the multiple programs affected.

The U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Treasury still need to promulgate regulations to fulfill their responsibilities toward VAWA implementation. Furthermore, interagency collaboration and coordination at federal, state, and local levels remain to be seen.

The excellent new HUD regulations for implementing VAWA, as well as the guidance on nuisance and crime-free housing ordinances have great potential to keep survivors safe, help victims heal, prevent homelessness, and move them towards self-sufficiency and merit an increase from last year's "C" grade. However, the continued, lengthy delay on implementating regulations from Treasury and Agriculture, and HUD's lack of guidance and enforcement process keep the grade at a solid "B."

B. AVAILABILITY OF SERVICES, MATERIALS, AND INFRASTRUCTURE: \mathcal{O}

The Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR) has stated that adequate housing must provide inhabitants with not only basic facilities to reside safely within, but also access to essential services, materials, facilities and infrastructure. The CESCR defines and explain these elements of adequate housing as follows:

An adequate house must contain certain facilities essential for health, security, comfort and nutrition. All beneficiaries of the right to adequate housing should have sustainable access to natural and common resources, safe drinking water, energy for cooking, heating and lighting, sanitation and

washing facilities, means of food storage, refuse disposal, site drainage and emergency services.¹⁷⁰

Existing infrastructure (or lack thereof) in the U.S. inextricably links housing or other facilities with access to water, sanitation, and other basic services. Two ways in which this lack of infrastructure plays out are (1) a lack of shelter and (2) a lack of access to water and sanitation.

Surplus Property

In many areas of the country, federal vacant properties are potential infrastructure that could be used to provide urgently needed emergency shelter and services for homeless individuals, as well as potentially longer-term housing options.¹⁷¹ Emergency shelters in 76 percent of cities surveyed by the U.S. Conference of Mayors had to turn away homeless families with children, and 61 percent had to turn away unaccompanied individuals. 172 But the federal government has failed in its statutory duty to use its existing resources to improve the availability of services and infrastructure to homeless individuals. Title V of the McKinney-Vento Act requires government agencies to make available vacant federal properties to homeless service agencies to provide housing and other services, before they can be otherwise transferred or sold. In March 2013, following litigation, a court found that many government agencies have not been complying with the law and mandated additional steps for compliance.¹⁷³ The program continues to be hindered by federal agency non-compliance with the law, an overly burdensome application process, and inadequate advertisement and outreach. But some positive steps have been taken by Congress that will hopefully lead to improved transparency into the federal government's real property holdings, and to make explicit that unused federal property can be used to permanently house homeless people without conditions. The Federal Assets Sale and Transfer Act of 2016, H.R. 4465, that would make these important improvements to the Title V program passed the U.S. House of Representatives in May 2016, and its Senate companion has a chance of passing in 2016 after this report is written but before the end of the year.¹⁷⁴

Water and Sanitation

For poor persons, water disconnections often happen when people have to choose between paying for water or rent, resulting in a violation of both the right to adequate housing and the right to water.¹⁷⁵ In October 2015 and April 2016, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights held hearings on the violations of the right to water in the U.S.¹⁷⁶ Testimony from Detroit shared how residents are losing their homes due to upaid water bills.¹⁷⁷ Residents of poor rural communities shared that they are even threatened with criminal sanctions for not being able to afford sewage treatment, although assistance programs are severly lacking. 178 Furthermore, at least one bankruptcy court ruling stated access to water is not a right, in clear contradiction to international standards.¹⁷⁹ On a more positive note, Philadelphia advocates shared model legislation passed in late 2015, requiring income-based billing and providing housing protections when water bills are not paid. 180

For homeless individuals, lack of shelter often means lack of access to water and sanitation infrastructure.¹⁸¹ Kelly Miller, a homeless woman living on the streets of Washington, D.C., highlighted the challenges faced by all homeless persons, and in particular, homeless women, in their lack of access to regular sanitation in testimony to the Commission.¹⁸² Relatedly, the UN Special Rapporteur on the rights to water and santiation focused his annual report on gender issues, and specifically recommended, "The sanitation and menstrual hygiene needs of homeless women and girls are almost universally unmet and the needs of that group are rarely reflected in water and sanitation policies. Human rights law demands that States place a particular focus on the needs of the most marginalized; hence, States should ensure that homeless women and girls have access to facilities."183 In October, New York City passed landmark legislation guaranteeing access to free menstrual hygiene products in schools, jail and shelters. 184 But in much of the rest of the country, women face the unhealthy and demeaning prospect of dealing with their monthly period without access to adequate facilities or supplies.¹⁸⁵

The House of Representatives' good work in passing H.R. 4465 increases the grade slightly this year, but until the Senate passes it and we see it implemented, the federal government's failure to make vacant

properties fully accessible, and the lack of significant federal steps to either directly address the ongoing crisis in affordable water and sanitation for poor and homeless persons or promote adequate solutions at the local level prevent us from raising the grade above "D" this year.

C. AFFORDABILITY: F

In General Comment 4, the CESCR defines affordability in housing as follows:

Personal or household financial costs associated with housing should be at such a level that the attainment and satisfaction of other basic needs are not threatened or compromised. Steps should be taken by States parties to ensure that the percentage of housing-related costs is, in general, commensurate with income levels. States parties should establish housing subsidies for those unable to obtain affordable housing, as well as forms and levels of housing finance which adequately reflect housing needs. In accordance with the principle of affordability, tenants should be protected by appropriate means against unreasonable rent levels or rent increases. In societies where natural materials constitute the chief sources of building materials for housing, steps should be taken by States parties to ensure the availability of such materials.¹⁸⁶

Over half of all American renters pay more than 30% of their income for housing.¹⁸⁷ For extremely low-income (ELI) households, 75% are paying *more than half* of their income in rent.¹⁸⁸ Since 1991 the number of poor families that have to spend more than half of their income on housing costs has risen by 10%.¹⁸⁹ Average rents have increased for 23 straight quarters, and were 15.2% higher in 2014 than in 2009.¹⁹⁰

This problem is caused in part by the lack of available, affordable housing for low-income renters. On top of the existing gap in availability of affordable units, the supply of low-cost rental units has declined since 2007.¹⁹¹ While ELI renter households may qualify for federal and local subsidy programs, demand for these programs far exceeds the supply: there is only enough funding for one in four eligible renters to receive assistance.¹⁹² The remaining three-fourths of eligible ELI households desperately in need of housing find

themselves on multi-year waiting lists, or find that waiting lists for affordable housing in their area are closed altogether.¹⁹³ While the affordable housing stock declines each year and more families and individuals are unstably housed, the rental market for higher-income households continues to grow, foreclosed homes stand vacant, and abandoned government-owned properties remain empty.¹⁹⁴

Lack of affordable housing is the primary cause of homelessness, and the ongoing crisis has led to an increase in the numbers of people experiencing homelessness. While HUD's point-in-time count of homeless persons living in shelters and public places has decreased over the past six years, 195 this number is almost certainly a significant undercount of homelessness.¹⁹⁶ It does not include people living doubled up with family or friends. The number of people living doubled up was 7 million people in 2014; since 2007 there has been an increase of 52%. 197 Moreover, close to 1.4 million school children were homeless during the 2013-2014 school year-and almost 2.5 million children overall were homeless in 2013. 198 The school numbers represent an 8% increase since the previous year, and have almost doubled since the beginning of the economic crisis in 2007.¹⁹⁹

The HUD budget has decreased by more than 56% since its high point in 1978, leading to the loss of approximately 10,000 units of federally-subsidized low income housing each year.200 This loss comes on top of the failure to produce any new units of affordable housing, reversing the trend of keeping pace with need that preceded 1978, and that prevented homelessness from being a widespread phenomenon.²⁰¹ In the meantime, subsidies to upper income housing through the Mortgage Interest Deduction (MID) have grown to such an extent that the entire \$32.8 billion HUD budget benefitting lowincome renters in 2014 was dwarfed by the \$101.5 billion expenditure on the MID, with 72% of the benefit going to homeowners making more than \$100,000/year.202

The National Housing Trust Fund (NHTF), established in 2008, was designed to be a permanent, dedicated funding source to increase and preserve the supply of rental units and increase homeownership for the lowest income households. The NHTF is funded by a modest fee on government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs) Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

When the GSEs were taken into conservatorship by the Federal Housing Finance Administration (FHFA) in September 2008, their obligation to fund the HTF was suspended.²⁰³ Fortunately, FHFA Director Mel Watt announced he was lifting the suspension on December 11, 2014 and directed Fannie and Freddie to begin setting aside the funds in 2015.²⁰⁴ HUD announced that nearly \$174 million in NHTF funds were available to states in 2016.²⁰⁵ While these funds represent a promising start to the NHTF, more funding is necessary to address the shortage of affordable rental units nationwide.

The ongoing failure to fund federal housing safety net programs at adequate levels keep this grade at an "F".

D. HABITABILITY: D

With the advent of housing codes, modern construction techniques, and the implied warranty of habitability,²⁰⁶ the quality of contemporary housing has improved dramatically and the number of substandard dwellings in the United States' housing market has decreased.²⁰⁷ Still, overcrowding and other issues ranging from bed bugs, mold, and lead paint remain.²⁰⁸ Moreover, the risks associated with poor housing conditions are borne disproportionately by racial minority and low-income individuals.²⁰⁹ Those living below the federal poverty line, for example, are three times more likely to have substandard quality housing than those who are not poor.²¹⁰ According to international standards, adequate housing must be habitable, providing the inhabitants with "adequate space and protecting them from cold, damp, heat, rain, wind or other threats to health, structural hazards, and disease vectors. The physical safety of occupants must be guaranteed as well."211

While much of the U.S. enjoys high quality housing stock, many poor families experience dangerous or unhealthy conditions. Between 2007 and 2012, the number of shared households increased by 13.2%, totaling 22.3 million households in 2012.²¹² Doubled-up living situations are often unstable, overcrowded, and potentially unsafe if families or youth living on their own are forced to move into inadequate or abusive households to avoid living on the streets.

Beyond doubling up, low-income housing units are often poorly maintained—in violation of housing

codes that lack adequate enforcement mechanisms. Many violations go unpunished and un-remedied, leading to a broad range of health problems for residents, including "dermatitis, respiratory distress, asthma, lead poisoning, and injuries."²¹³ While Flint, Michigan has received much deserved attention to its lead crisis, millions of tenants nationwide live in lead-contaminated housing.²¹⁴ 9% of all tenants experience other deficiencies in plumbing, electricity, structural integrity, or heating.²¹⁵ And the lack of counsel by attorneys shared above means that many poor renters find themsleves on the streets after attempting to get these issues fixed.²¹⁶

In a chapter entitled "Rat Hole," Matt Desmond documented a representative sample of living conditions using a real life story of twelve people living in a two bedroom apartment, with "the rear door...off its hinges...walls pockmarked with large holes...bathroom...ceiling sagged from an upstairs leak and a thin blackish film coated the floor. The kitchen windows were cracked....[and the apartment] was without power. Everything in the refrigerator spoiled....the roaches were there when the Hinkstons moved in: crawling the sinks, the toilet, the walls, filling kitchen drawers..."217 But, "when tenants fell behind [on rent], [habitability] protections dissolved. Tenants in arrears were barred from witholding or escrowing rent; and they tempted eviction if they filed a report with a building inspector."218

This year, HUD published a proposed rule on lead paint in federal subsidized properties.²¹⁹ While the proposed rule greatly improves HUD's approach to lead poisoning in federally assisted housing, the rule fails to prevent lead poisoning because children still must be lead poisoned and suffer permanent neurological damage before interventions are triggered in certain categories of federally assisted housing.²²⁰ The final rule should increase prevention practices, enforcement, oversight, and reporting requirements and require client-centered services, and mandate expeditious adoption of changes.²²¹

The unmet behavioral health needs of some homeless persons start with adequate housing but also include supportive service and health care. The expansion of healthcare access under the Affordable Care Act offers promise, but 19 states have not yet expanded Medicaid, the government subsidized healthcare program for low-income individuals, leaving millions

of Americans in a "coverage gap." This will mean that some states will be left behind in treating homeless and poor persons with mentally illness and addiction.

Congress and HUD's overall lack of measures to ensure habitable housing keep this grade at a "D" this year.

E. ACCESSIBILITY: B-

Housing must be accessible to everyone. Often the disadvantaged need proactive protection to make housing truly accessible to them. Housing law and government policy should ensure that the housing needs of vulnerable groups are met and that avenues of recourse are open in the event that discrimination against them occurs. The CESCR defines the element of accessibility as follows:

Adequate housing must be accessible to those entitled to it. Disadvantaged groups must be accorded full and sustainable access to adequate housing resources. Thus, such disadvantaged groups as the elderly, children, the physically disabled, the terminally ill, HIV-positive individuals, persons with persistent medical problems, the mentally ill, victims of natural disasters, people living in disaster-prone areas and other groups should be ensured some degree of priority consideration in the housing sphere. Both housing law and policy should take fully into account the special housing needs of these groups.²²³

Many Americans experience significant difficulties in accessing adequate housing. First, HUD's definition of homelessness is overly narrow, blocking some homeless persons from government aid. Furthermore, housing applicants experience discrimination based on criminal history, race, disability, sex, source of income, and other statuses.

Definition Barriers

A major barrier to many people accessing federal housing resources is the restrictive and sometimes confusing definitions used to define homelessness for the purposes of determining eligibility for federal housing and benefits programs. HUD's overly restrictive definition of homelessness excludes persons living in doubled-up situations or low-cost

motels with no other place to go.²²⁴ This eliminates the eligibility of many in need of resources to receive housing aid, even though they are eligible for federal homeless assistance from other federal agencies, such as the U.S. Department of Education.²²⁵ Many state and local education officials tasked with providing services to homeless students (using ED's broader definition), for example, express frustration with the lack of coordination and collaboration with other agencies which do not serve their students and families.

<u>Criminal History Barriers</u>

Both private landlords and public housing authorities frequently deny people with criminal convictions or even arrest records access to housing, leading 1 in 11 prisoners to be released into homelessness.²²⁶ In 2011, following years of advocacy, including the 2010 UPR recommendations to increase affordable housing access, HUD issued a letter to public housing authorities encouraging them to reduce these restrictions. 227 2015 and 2016 marked the years that HUD finally put teeth into these recommendations by issuing important guidance to both public and private housing providers on criminal records, recognizing the racially disparate impact of criminal justice policies. For public housing authorities, arrest records alone may not be the basis for denial, authorities are encouraged to use their discretion where circumstances warrant, and they must comply with overall fair housing laws.²²⁸ In a broader piece of guidance, HUD emphasized that overbroad blanket bans by landlords are not permitted by the Fair Housing Act. While landlords are permitted to use information about criminal history, "criminal historybased restrictions on housing opportunities violate the Act if, without justification, their burden falls more often on renters or other housing market participants of one race or national origin over another (i.e., discriminatory effects liability)."229 These are important steps forward but more time is needed to see whether these steps will ensure formerly incarcerated individuals are not forced to be homeless after paying their debts to society.

Race and Gender Barriers

HUD took other positive steps in 2016. First, it finalized a new rule which would revise the way fair

market rents are calculated to allow voucher holders more access to rentals in higher-income areas.²³⁰ Second, it built on the Equal Access Rule by requiring housing and homeless service providers to "provide all individuals, including transgender individuals and other individuals who do not identify with the sex they were assigned at birth, with access to programs, benefits, services, and accommodations in accordance with their gender identity without being subjected to intrusive questioning or being asked to provide documentation.²³¹ Third, it issued a regulation to protect against sexual, and other, harassment in housing.²³²

Even where needy applicants are able to access affordable housing or obtain housing assistance, they face discrimination in the private housing market on the basis of race, disability, gender, source of income, or other status, despite some strong protections on paper. There were 27,994 complaints of housing discrimination registered in 2015, a minority of the estimated total amount of housing discrimination.²³³

In 2016, HUD delivered on many overdue promises with efforts to reduce the racially disparate impact of criminal records and the limitations of housing vouchers are reduced, however its failure to recognize the full scope of homelessness, limited action on lending policies, and questionability of enforcement practices with its new policies keeps this grade from rising to more than a "B-" this year.

F. LOCATION: B-

Adequate housing requires more than four walls and a roof; it also must be in a location that makes it possible to access necessary resources. According to the CESCR, location includes the following aspects:

Adequate housing must be in a location which allows access to employment options, health-care services, schools, child-care centres and other social facilities. This is true both in large cities and in rural areas where the temporal and financial costs of getting to and from the place of work can place excessive demands upon the budgets of poor households. Similarly, housing should not be built on polluted sites nor in immediate proximity to pollution sources that threaten the right to health of the inhabitants.²³⁴

Too often in the United States poverty is segregated, often along racial lines, so poor families and families of color have significantly reduced access to quality schools, good jobs, healthy housing, and safe neighborhoods.²³⁵

Despite laws against racial segregation, governments at all levels in the United States continue to develop and perpetuate segregation through zoning laws, affordable housing decisions, and more.²³⁶ HUD historically has failed to sufficiently enforce its obligations, as well as state and local requirements, under the Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) provision of the Fair Housing Act, which is intended to eliminate entrenched patterns of segregation by requiring federal, state, and local governments to take proactive measures to undo segregation.²³⁷

This year, HUD published tools and guidance,²³⁸ building on a 2015 final regulation requiring Public Housing Authorities (PHAs), and state and local governments that receive HUD funds to incorporate regional analyses of residential segregation into their planning.²³⁹ The rule requires an analysis of how patterns of segregation are related to opportunity indicators, including good schools, job opportunities, and transportation.

Also in 2016, HUD and DOJ issued joint guidance on zoning codes and other land use laws.²⁴⁰ This guidance should help communities grappling with how to address segregation.

The federal government has continued to move forward after major steps last year. Now we must see whether these new policies result in better lives for extremely low-income individuals and their children. This is progress, but still tenuous and unfinished, warranting a "B-" grade.

G. CULTURAL ADEQUACY: D-

According to the CESCR, adequate housing must be culturally adequate:

The way housing is constructed, the building materials used and the policies supporting these must appropriately enable the expression of cultural identity and diversity of housing. Activities geared towards development or modernization in the housing sphere should ensure that the cultural dimensions of housing are not sacrificed, and that, inter alia, modern technological facilities, as appropriate are also ensured.

Although many groups face challenges of maintaining their culture, the poor state of housing for Native Americans violates not only human rights, but also tribal treaty obligations. Inadequate housing for Native Americans creates negative impacts on cultural and social practices—through overcrowding, lack of maintenance, and destruction of historical cultural connections to land and traditional settlement patterns.²⁴¹ Congress has reduced funding for the Indian Housing Block Grant (IHBG) program by close to one-guarter between 2000 and 2015, despite the IHBG's existing lack of adequate resources.²⁴² HUD is developing a report, now expected to be released in December 2016, on the housing needs of Native Americans, Alaska Natives, and Native Hawaiians, which could bring much-needed attention to this ongoing issue.243

Last year, USICH and several lead agencies signed an agreement to work together on a few key actions that will begin to address Native American homelessness both on and off tribal lands.²⁴⁴ Based on this agreement, HUD and VA announced \$5.9 million in funding for HUD to provide vouchers for rental housing and the VA to provide supportive services for Native American veterans, an extension to rural and reservation areas of a program that had formerly only been available in urban areas.²⁴⁵

The new attention from HUD, VA, and USICH is welcome, but while the federal government has taken limited steps to ensure culturally adequate housing for Native Americans, the scope of the crisis is desperate, and much more can be done, necessitating a slide back to a "D-" grade this year.

RECOMMENDATIONS

In 2017, a new Congress begins and the Trump Administration will move into the White House and executive agencies in the context of an ongoing affordable housing crisis and widespread homelessness. Congress and the Administration must take affirmative steps to improve Americans' enjoyment of their fundamental right to affordable, safe, appropriate housing. Our country's economic struggles are not a reason to defer taking action to realize this vital goal. Rather, it is precisely now that the need to do so is most acute, and a rights-based approach to budgeting and policy decisions would help generate the will to protect people's basic human dignity first, rather than relegating it to the status of an optional policy.

Many steps that require few additional resources would bring the U.S. closer to compliance with its human rights obligations, including laws and regulations to rebalance rights within the private housing market. Where additional public resources are required, framing these expenditures as part of our government's basic obligations to its citizens—the same as its duty to ensure freedom of speech or a fair trial—allows it to establish a new baseline as budget debates intensify.

Because the human right to housing framework itself is so broad, the list of remedies to present violations is similarly broad. We have highlighted the ten most critical—and most relevant—first steps to ending and preventing homelessness:

INCREASE HOUSING FUNDING AND ACCESS TO RESOURCES

1. Congress and HUD should allocate at least \$1 billion in new money per year to homelessness prevention programs, and expand HUD's definition of homelessness to include those living in doubled-up situations or in motels due to loss of housing or economic hardship—as other federal agencies have done.

- 2. Congress and HUD should ensure every person can afford adequate housing through a combination of new construction of subsidized units, universal vouchers, and funding the National Housing Trust Fund at a minimum of \$1 billion per year.
- 3. Congress and HUD, HHS, and GSA should protect and strengthen Title V of the McKinney-Vento Act, which requires vacant or underutilized federal property to be made available to homeless service providers at no cost, by increasing the number of useful properties made available and easing the application process.
- Federal, state and local governments must work together to ensure no person loses access to water or sanitation due to inability to pay, or loses their home due to an inability to pay a utility bill.

STRENGTHEN RIGHTS

- Congress and the Administration should pass the Permanently Protecting Tenants at Foreclosure Act, including a private right of action, and vest authority in the Consumer Protection Financial Bureau to regulate and enforce compliance.
- 6. Congress, state, and local goverments should ensure a right to counsel in all civil cases involving the potential loss of housing or inadequate housing conditions, and significantly expand funding for legal aid services to facilitate the implementation of this right.
- 7. HUD, DOJ and other agencies should take concrete steps to stop local criminalization efforts by providing further incentives for constructive alternative approaches and decriminalization and aggressively pursuing enforcement action. States should support and enact Homeless Bills of Rights; local governments should stop enforcing laws that criminalize homelessness in the absence of shelter or housing, and provide adequate notice and adequate alternative housing before evicting homeless persons living in encampments.

- 8. HUD, the Department of Agriculture, and Treasury should fully implement the Violence Against Women Act's housing protections through regulation and other guidance and encourage states and municipalities to expand the Act's protections to housing that has no federal subsidy.
- 9. HUD should fully implement Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing and fund efforts to support compliance and enforcement.

IMPROVE ECONOMIC JUSTICE AND FAIRNESS

10. Congress should increase the minimum wage and Supplemental Security Income benefits, so that both working and low-income disabled people can afford adequate housing as well as meet other basic needs while paying no more than 30 perecent of their income for housing.

(Endnotes)

- While the Department of Housing and Urban Development reported an overall decline of 2 % in homelessness nationally based on a single night's count in 2015, this count is based on a severely limited and flawed method that almost certainly misses large numbers of homless people. On a single night in January, 2015, the Department of Housing and Urban Development counted 564,708 people experiencing homelessness living in shelters and public places (the "HUD definition" of homelessness) a difference of 13,716 people from 2014; 206,286 of those people were in families. See U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development, The 2015 Annual Homeless Assessment Report to Congress, Part 1 Point-in-Time Estimates of Homelessness (2015), https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/ AHAR-2014-Part1.pdf (hereinafter "HUD PIT 2015"); see also, Maria Foscarinis, Homeless problem bigger than our leaders think: Column, USA Today (Jan.16, 2014), http:// www.usatoday.com/story/opinion/2014/01/16/homelessproblem-obama-america-recession-column/4539917/. (hereinafter "Foscarinis, Homeless problem bigger").
- 2 U.S.Department of Education, Total Number of Homeless Students Enrolled in LEAs With or Without McKinney-Vento Subgrants (2015), http://eddataexpress.ed.gov/data-element-explorer.cfm/tab/data/deid/5353/ (hereinafter "ED Count 2015"); American Institutes for Research, America's Youngest Outcasts: A Report Card on Child Homelessness, 6 (2014).
- 3 See, id.
- 4 National Alliance to End Homelessness, The State of Homelessness in America 2015, 3 (2015), http://www.endhomelessness.org/page/-/files/State_of-Homelessness_2015_FINAL_online.pdf.
- 5 See, id. ("In 2015, 98.1% of emergency shelter beds across the nation were full, and have been consistently utilized above 90% since 2007. In many states, the utilization rate is above 100%.")
- 6 See National Coalition for the Homeless, SWEPT AWAY: REPORTING ON THE ENCAMPMENT CLOSURE CRISIS, 5 (2016) (hereinafter "SWEPT AWAY"); National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty & Yale University Law School Allard K. Lowenstein Human Rights Clinic, Welcome Home: The Rise of Tent Cities in the United States (2013) (herinafter "Welcome Home"), http://nlchp.org/documents/WelcomeHome_TentCities. Welcome Home documented media reports of tent cities in 46 states across the country, and we have since documented reports in all other states.
- 7 National Law Center on Homelessness and Poverty, Housing Not Handcuffs: The Criminalization of Homelessness in U.S. Cities (2016), https://www.nlchp.org/documents/Housing-Not-Handcuffs.
- 8 See, id.
- 9 See Eric Tars and Liz Osborn, Leading By Example on the Human Rights of People Experiencing Homelessness, US Interagency Council on Homelessness Blog (Oct. 13,

- 2015), http://usich.gov/blog/leading-by-example-on-human-rights-of-people-experiencing-homelessness; U.S. Dept. of Housing & Urban Development, *Alternatives to Criminalizing Homelessness, <a href="https://www.hudexchange.info/homelessness-assistance/alternatives-to-criminalizing-homelessness-assistance/alternatives-t
- U.S. Dept. of Housing & Urban Development, Notice of Funding Availability for the 2016 Continuum of Care Program Competition, 35 (2016), https://www.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/FY-2016-CoC-Program-NOFA.pdf; (hereinafter "HUD NOFA"). National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty, The Cost of CriminalizingHomelessness Just Went Up By \$1.9 Billion (2015), http://www.nlchp.org/press_releases/2015.09.18_HUD_NOFA_criminalization.
- 11 U.S. Dep't of Educ., Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory Guidance, Title VII-B of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act, as Amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act, Non-Regulatory Guidance (hereinafter "2016 McKinney-Vento Guidance"), at 14 (July 27, 2016), available at http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/essa/160240ehcyguidance072716.pdf.
- 12 Letter from Lisa Foster, Director, Office for Access to Justice, U.S. Dept. of Justice, to Seattle City Councilors, (Oct.13, 2016), (https://assets.documentcloud.org/ documents/3141894/DOJ-ATJ-Letter-to-Seattle-City-Council-10-13-2016.pdf) (hereinafter "DOJ Seattle letter").
- 13 The White House, Office of the Press Secretary, FACT SHEET: Launching the Data-Driven Justice Initiative: Disrupting the Cycle of Incarceration (June 30, 2016), https://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2016/06/30/fact-sheet-launching-data-driven-justice-initiative-disrupting-cycle; see also, National Association of Counties, Data-Driven Justice: Disrupting the Cycle of Incarceration, https://www.naco.org/resources/programs-and-services/data-driven-justice-disrupting-cycle-incarceration.
- 14 See Cobine et. al. v. Eureka, No. C 16—2239 JSW (N.Dist. Ca.May 6, 2106); Smith v. City of Corvallis, No. 6:14-cv-01382-MC, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 73205, at *1-2 (D. Or. June 6, 2016); City of Everett v. Bluhm, et. al. Case No. CRP 700-, 7005, 7006, 11297, (Everett Mun. Ct., Jan. 12, 2016) (on file with author); City of North Bend v. Brashaw, No. Y123426A (Issaquah Mun. Ct., Jan. 13, 2016). See also, Bell v. Boise, et. al., 1:09-cv-540-REB, Statement of Interest of the United States (Aug. 6, 2015); Dept. of Justice, Office of Public Affairs, Justice Department Files Brief to Address the Criminalization of Homelessness (Aug. 6, 2015), http://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-files-brief-address-criminalization-homelessness.
- 15 See Norton v. City of Springfield, 612 F. App'x. 386, (7th Cir. 2015); Thayer v. City of Worcester, No. 13-40057-TSH, (D. Mass. Nov. 9, 2015); McLaughlin v. City of Lowell, No. 1:14-cv-10270, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 144336 at ## (D. Mass. Oct. 23, 2015); Browne v. City of Grand Junction, No. 14-cv-00809-CMA-KLM (D. Co Sept. 30, 2015).

- 16 See U.N. Human Rights Council, Report of the Working Group of Experts on People of African Descent on its mission to the United States of America, ¶ 50-53, 72, 76, 83 A/HRC/33/61/ Add.2 (2016), (hereinafter UN WGPAD Report) https:// documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G16/183/30/ PDF/G1618330.pdf?OpenElement; National Fair Housing Alliance, Where You Live Matters: 2015 Fair Housing Trends Report 7, (2015), http://www.nationalfairhousing.org (finding 27,528 complaints of housing discrimination registered in 2014); Richard Eisenberg, Housing Discrimination: The Next Hurdle For LGBT Couples, Forbes (July 2, 2015), http://www.forbes.com/sites/nextavenue/2015/07/02/ housing-discrimination-the-next-hurdle-for-lgbtcouples/#7b524f233cac, (48% of older LGBTQ couples faced discrimination in accessing senior housing; 73% of LGBTQ individuals interviewed were strongly concerned about housing discrimination).
- 17 Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013: Implementation in HUD Housing Programs, FR-5720-F-03, https://federalregister.gov/d/2016-25888.
- 18 Quid Pro Quo and Hostile Environment Harassment and Liability for Discriminatory Housing Practices Under the Fair Housing Act, FR–5248–F–02, https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2016-09-14/pdf/2016-21868.pdf.
- 19 Equal Access in Accordance With an Individual's Gender Identity in Community Planning and Development Programs, FR 5863–F–02, https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=HUD-2015-0104-0172
- 20 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Office of General Counsel Guidance on Application of Fair Housing Act Standards to the Use of Criminal Records by Providers of Housing and Real Estate-Related Transactions (Apr. 4, 2016), https://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=HUD_OGCGuidAppFHAStandCR.pdf
- 21 See 80 FR 42272, available at: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2015/07/16/2015-17032/affirmatively-furthering-fair-housing; Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing Assessment Tool: Announcement of Final Approved Document 80 FR 81840 (Dec. 31, 2015); Dept. of Housing & Urban Development, AFFH, https://www.huduser.gov/portal/affht_pt.html.
- 22 Joint Statement of the Department of Housing and Urban Development and the Department of Justice: State and Local Land Use Laws and Practicse and the Application of the Fair Housing Act, (Nov. 10, 2016), https://www.justice.gov/crt/page/file/909956/download (hereinafter "HUD & DOJ joint guidance"); see Dept. of Housing & Urban Development, HUD and Justice Department Release New Guidance on "Reasonable Modifications" under the Fair Housing Act (Mar. 5, 2008), available at: https://www.hud.gov/offices/fheo/disabilities/reasonable_modifications_mar08.pdf.
- 23 UN conference agrees new urban development agenda creating sustainable, equitable cities for all, UN Sustainable Development Blog (Oct. 20, 2016), <a href="http://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2016/10/un-conference-agrees-new-urban-development-agenda-creating-agenda-creatin

- sustainable-equitable-cities-for-all/; Outcome document of the United Nations Conference on Human Settlements (Habitat III), Quito Declaration on Sustainable Cities and Human Settlements for All, Quito, October 17-20, 2016, ¶ 31, 33, 108 (2016) (hereinafter "New Urban Agenda"), https://www2.habitat3.org/bitcache/97ced11dcecef85d41f74043195e5472836f6291?vid=588897&disposition=inline&op=view.
- 24 See U.N. WGPAD Report, supra note 16.
- 25 See id, at ¶98-100, 108, 109, 120.
- 26 Maina Kiai, Statement by the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the rights to freedom of peaceful assembly and of association at the conclusion of his visit to the United States of America (July 27, 2016), http://freeassembly.net/news/usa-statement/.
- 27 See US Human Rights Network, US Government 2016 Calendar for UPR Consultations, http://www.ushrnetwork.org/resources-media/us-government-2016-calendar-upr-consultations.
- 28 Id. at 5.
- 29 See Saving Taxpayer Dollars in Federal Real Estate: Reducing the Government's Space Footprint: Hearing Before the Subcommittee on Economic Development, Public Buildings and Emergency Management of the House, Committee on Transportation & Infrastructure, 114th Cong. (2015) (statement of Maria Foscarinis), https://www.nlchp.org/TitleVtestimony_June2015.
- 30 See Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, The State of the Nation's Housing 4 (2016), http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/files/jchs 2016 state of the nations housing lowres.pdf.
- 31 National Low Income Housing Coalition, Out of Reach 2016 (2016), http://nlihc.org/oor.
- 32 Id, at 2.
- 33 See General Comment 4, The Right to Adequate Housing (Sixth session, 1991), U.N. Doc. E/1992/23, annex III at 114 (1991), reprinted in Compilation of General Comments and General Recommendations Adopted by Human Rights Treaty Bodies, U.N. Doc. HRI/GEN/1/Rev.6 at 18 (2003) (hereinafter "General Comment 4").
- 34 See, generally, Matthew Desmond, Evicted: Poverty and Profit in the American City (Crown Publishers 2016).
- 35 See Adam Gosztola, Impacted Communities Testify on US Water Crises At Human Rights Hearing, Shadowproof, (Apr. 4, 2016), https://shadowproof.com/2016/04/04/impactedcommunities-testify-us-water-crises-human-rights-hearing/;
- 36 Nat'l Law Ctr. on Homelessness & Poverty, Simply Unacceptable: Homelessness & the Human Right to Housing in the U.S. (2011), http://www.nlchp.org/documents/Simply_Unacceptable.
- 37 General Comment 4, supra, note 33.
- 38 *Id.* at ¶ 8(a). ("All persons should possess legal protection

- against forced eviction, harassment and other threats. States are therefore required to take immediate measures to confer legal security of tenure for those lacking such protection, following genuine consultation with affected persons and groups.").
- 39 Id. at ¶ 8(b). ("All beneficiaries of the right to adequate housing should have sustainable access to natural and common resources, safe drinking water, energy for cooking, heating and lighting, sanitation and washing facilities, means of food storage, refuse disposal, site drainage and emergency services.").
- 40 Id. at ¶8(c). ("All costs associated with housing should be at a level sufficient to ensure that the attainment and satisfaction of other basic needs are not threatened or compromised. Housing subsidies should be available for those unable to obtain affordable housing, and tenants have to be protected from unreasonable rent levels").
- 41 *Id.* at ¶ 8(d). (Adequate housing implies that inhabitants are provided with adequate space, and protected from the elements and other threats to health such as structural hazards and disease. Physical safety of the occupants must be guaranteed.)
- 42 Id. at ¶8(e) ("Adequate housing must be accessible to those entitled to it. Disadvantaged groups such as the elderly, children, physically disabled persons, the terminally ill, HIV-positive individuals, persons with persistent medical problems, the mentally ill, victims of natural disasters, people living in disaster-prone areas and other groups should be assured of some degree of priority consideration in the housing sphere.")
- 43 Id. at ¶8(f). ("Adequate housing must be in a location which allows access to employment options, health-care services, schools, child-care centres and other social facilities. This is true both in large cities and in rural areas where the temporal and financial costs of getting to and from the place of work can place excessive demands upon the budgets of poor households. Similarly, housing should not be built on polluted sites nor in immediate proximity to pollution sources that threaten the right to health of the inhabitants.")
- 44 Id. at ¶8(g). ("The way housing is constructed, the building materials used and the policies supporting these must appropriately enable the expression of cultural identity and diversity of housing. Activities geared towards development or modernization in the housing sphere should ensure that the cultural dimensions of housing are not sacrificed, and that, inter alia, modern technological facilities, as appropriate are also ensured.")
- 45 Id.
- 46 Susan Randolph, Sakiko Fukada-Parr & Terra Lawson-Remer, Working Paper Version of Economic and Social Rights Fulfillment Index: Country Scores and Rankings 4 (2010) (working paper) (on file with the Economic & Social Rights Empowerment Initiative), http://www.serfindex.org/research/.
- 47 Social and Economic Rights Fulfillment Index (on file

- with the Economic & Social Rights Initiative), http://www.serfindex.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/2010_HighIncome_SERF_Index_2013Update.pdf.
- 48 Susan Randolph, Sakiko Fukada-Parr & Terra Lawson-Remer, Economic Rights in the Land of Plenty: Monitoring State Fulfillment of Economic and Social Rights Obligations in the United States 17-18, 21 (October 1, 2009) (unpublished draft) (on file with the Economic & Social Rights Empowerment Initiative), available at http://www.serfindex.org/research/.
- 49 Id. at 40.
- 50 See id.
- 51 See National Alliance to End Homelessness, Homelessness Looms as Potential Outcome of Recession (2009).
- 52 National Bureau of Economic Research, Business Cycle Dating Committee, National Bureau of Economic Research (Sept. 10, 2010), https://www.nber.org/cycles/sept2010.html.
- 53 See State of the Nation's Housing, supra note 30, at 4.
- 54 *Id.* at 4.
- 55 Id. at 5.
- 56 ED Count, *supra* note 2; America's Youngest Outcasts, *supra* note 2, *at* 6.
- 57 See id..
- 58 See Swept Away, supra note 6, at 5; Welcome Home, supra note 6. Welcome Home documented media reports of tent cities in 46 states across the country, and we have since documented reports in all other states.
- 59 THE STATE OF HOMELESSNESS IN AMERICA 2015, supra note 4, at 3.
- 60 On a single night in January, 2015, the Department of Housing and Urban Development counted 564,708 people experiencing homelessness living in shelters and public places (the "HUD definition" of homelessness) a difference of 13,716 people from 2014; 206,286 of those people were in families. See HUD PIT 2015, supra note 1.
- 61 See, Foscarinis, Homeless problem bigger, supra note 1.
- 62 Housing Not Handcuffs, supra note 7.
- 63 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. Res. 217, U.N. GAOR, 3d Sess., pt. 1, art. 25(1), U.N. Doc. A/810 (1948).
- 64 The Housing Act of 1949 (Title V of P.L. 81-171).
- 65 See International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, opened for signature Dec. 16, 1966, art. 11(1), 993 U.N.T.S. 3, 5 (entered into force Jan. 3, 1976); Ratification/Signature Status of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, at http://www.un.org/Depts/Treaty/final/ts2/newfiles/part-boo/iv-boo/iv-3html. (Under the U.S. Constitution, the President signs treaties, and the Senate must ratify them by a 2/3 vote. See U.S. Const. Art. II, Sec. 2).

- 66 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties art. 18, May 23, 1969, 1155 U.N.T.S. 331.
- 67 United States Interagency Council on Homelessness, Opening Doors: Federal Strategic Plan to Prevent and End Homelessness (2010).
- 68 Report of the Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review, United States of America, Addendum: Views on Conclusions and/or Recommendations, Voluntary Commitments and Replies Presented by the State Under Review, A/HRC/16/11/Add.1, ¶ 19 (Mar. 8, 2011).
- Report of the Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review, United States of America, A/HRC/30/12, ¶ 176.309 (July 20, 2015). In explaining its partial acceptance of the above recommendation, the U.S. stated "[t]he U.S. is not a party to the ICESCR, and we understand the rights therein are to be realized progressively ... We continue to improve our domestic laws and policies to promote access to housing, food, health, and safe drinking water and sanitation, with the aim of decreasing poverty and preventing discrimination." Report of the Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review, United States of America, Addendum, Views on conclusions and/or recommendations, voluntary commitments and replies presented by the State under review, A/HRC/30/12/Add.1, ¶ 12 (Sept. 14, 2015).
- 70 G.A. Res. 70/1, *Transforming Our World: 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development* (Sept. 25, 2015), available at: http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=E; Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform, Sustainable Development Goal 11, *available at* https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg11.
- 71 UN Sustainable Development Blog, *supra* note 23; New Urban Agenda, *supra* note 23.
- 72 New Urban Agenda, *supra* note 23, *at* ¶ 31.
- 73 *Id, at* ¶33, 108.
- 74 Asst. Sec. of State for Democracy, Human Rights & Labor, Michael Posner, "The Four Freedoms Turns 70," (March 24, 2011).
- 75 See General Comment 4, supra note 33.
- 76 *Id*.
- 77 See Desmond, supra, note 34.
- 78 See, id; see also National Low Income Housing Coalition,
 HOUSING SPOTLIGHT: AFFORDABLE HOUSING IS NOWHERE TO BE FOUND FOR
 MILLIONS (2015), http://nlihc.org/article/housing-spotlight-volume-5-issue-1. There is a 7 million unit shortage of rental housing that is affordable and available to extremely low income households (households with incomes at or below 30% of area median income). Without assistance, these households find themselves spending more than half their income on rent, leaving very little money for other expenses, and leading to unstable housing situations and homelessness
- 79 See Community Alliance of Tenants, Campaigns: What is

- Just Cause Eviction? http://oregoncat.org/what-we-do/campaigns/. ("Only a few states, such as New Jersey and <a href="New Je
- 80 See Desmond, supra, note 34, at 4; see also, infra, at Access to Counsel.
- 81 National Law Center on Homelessness and Poverty, EVICTION (WITHOUT) NOTICE: RENTERS AND THE FORECLOSURE CRISIS 6 (2012) (citing National Low Income Housing Coalition, RENTERS IN FORECLOSURE: A FRESH LOOK AT AN ONGOING PROBLEM (September 2012)), http://www.nlchp.org/Eviction_Without_Notice).
- 82 *Id. at* 15.
- 83 See id.
- 84 S. 730, 114th Cong. (2015-2016).,and H.R. 1354, 114th Cong. (2015-2016),
- 85 National Low Income Housing Coalition, Renters in Foreclosure: Defining the Problem, Identifying the Solutions 4 (2009); Lawyers' Committee for Better Housing, Chicago's Foreclosure Crisis: Community Solutions to the Loss of Affordable Rental Housing 2-3 (2013); Renters In Foreclosure: A Fresh Look at an Ongoing Problem, *supra* note 81.
- 86 CoreLogic, CoreLogic Reports 47,000 Completed Foreclosures in May, US News, July 8, 2014, available at http://www.corelogic.com/about-us/news/corelogic-reports-47,000-completed-foreclosures-in-may.aspx; EVICTION WITHOUT NOTICE, supra note 81, at 6 (citing Tony Guo, Tenants at Foreclosure: Mitigating Harm to Innocent Victims of the Foreclosure Crisis, DePaul J. For Soc. Just. (June 2011), available at http://works.bepress.com/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?artucke=1002&context=tony_guo.
- 87 RealtyTrac, U.S. Real Estate Trends & Market Info, available at, http://www.realtytrac.com/statsandtrends/ foreclosuretrends (last visited on October 19, 2016)); see also The United States Conference of Mayors, Hunger AND HOMELESSNESS SURVEY: A STATUS REPORT ON HUNGER AND HOMELESSNESS IN AMERICA'S CITIES 43 (2012), http://usmayors.org/ pressreleases/uploads/2012/1219-report-HH.pdf.
- 88 Id.
- 89 Katie Jones, Cong. Research Serv., R40210, Preserving Homeownership: Foreclosure Prevention Initiatives 2-3 (2015).
- 90 CoreLogic, CoreLogic Reports 38,000 Completed Foreclosures in June 2016 US News, July 8, 2014, available at http://www.corelogic.com/about-us/news/corelogic-reports-38,000-completed-foreclosures-in-june-2016.aspx.
- 91 See Jonathan Stempel, Los Angeles sues JPMorgan, alleging discriminatory lending, Reuters (May 30, 2014), https://www.reuters.com/article/2014/05/30/us-jpmorganchase-

- <u>losangeles-lawsuit-idUSKBN0EA1YB20140530</u>; Jacob S. Rugh & Douglas Massey, *Racial Segregation and the American Foreclosure Crisis*, 75 Amer. Socio. Review 629 (2010).
- 92 *See* Simply Unacceptable, *supra* note 36, at 36-38 (2011).
- 93 Nelson D. Schwartz and Shaila Dewan, *States Negotiate* \$26 Billion Agreement for Homeowners, New YORK TIMES, A1 (February 8, 2012).
- 94 Detroit Eviction Defense, A Hurricane without Water: Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Foreclosure Crisis in Metro Detroit (2012).
- 95 UN WGPAD Report, *supra*, note 16, *at* ¶ 83.
- 96 See U.N. Committee on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights, General Comment 9, Domestic Application of the Covenant, ¶ 2-3, E/C.12/1998/24 (1998). See also, Human Rights Committee, General Comment 13, art. 14 (21st sess., 1984) ¶ 8, Compilation of General Comments and General Recommendations Adopted by Human Rights Treaty Bodies, UN Doc. HRI\GEN\1\Rev.1, at 14 (1994); General Recommendation No. 31: Prevention of Racial Discrimination in the Administration and Functioning of the Criminal Justice System, U.N. Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, 60th Sess., Supp. No. 18, at 103 ¶ C(17)(b), U.N. Doc. A/60/18 (2005). General Recommendation No. 29: Discrimination Based on Descent, U.N. Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination. 61st Sess., at 111 ¶ 5(u), U.N. Doc. A/57/18 (2002), reprinted in Compilation of General Recommendations Adopted by Human Rights Treaty Bodies, U.N. Doc. HRI/GEN/1/Rev.6 at 223 (2003).
- 97 Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, Consideration of Reports Submitted by State Parties Under Article 9 of the Convention: Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination: United States of America, ¶ 22, CERD/C/USA/CO/6 (2008).
- 98 Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 983(b)(2)(A), there is a right to counsel in federal civil forfeiture proceedings when the property subject to forfeiture is a person's primary residence. This provision does not apply to civil forfeiture actions in state courts.
- See Melanca Clark & Maggie Barron, Foreclosures: A Crisis in Legal Representation 12, 14, Brennan Ctr. for Justice (2009), https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/ <u>legacy/Justice/Foreclosure%20Report/ForeclosuresReport.</u> pdf (examining data from various states which suggests that large numbers of homeowners are unrepresented in foreclosures); Russell Engler, And Justice for All—Including the Unrepresented Poor: Revisiting the Roles of Judges, Mediators, and Clerks, 67 Fordham L. Rev. 1987, 2063-64 n. 339 (1999) (10% of tenants sued for eviction in New York City are represented by counsel, while 75–90% of landlords are represented); Dist. Of Columbia Access to Justice Comm'n, Justice for All? An Examination of the Civil Legal Needs of the District of Columbia's Low-Income Community 76 (2008) (finding 3% of tenants represented by legal counsel in eviction cases before the court).

- 100 Risa E. Kaufman, Martha F. Davis & Heidi M. Wegleitner, The Interdependence of Rights: Protecting the Human Right to Housing by Promoting the Right to Counsel, 45 Col. HRLR 772 (2014).
- 101 Andrew Scherer, Gideon's Shelter: The Need to Recognize a Right to Counsel for Indigent Defendants in Eviction Proceedings, 23 Harvard C.R-C.L. L. Rev. 557 (1988).
- 102 See World Justice Project, WJP Rule of Law Index, http://data.worldjusticeproject.org/#index/USA (2016); see also, National Coalition for a Civil Right to Counsel, U.S. rank on access to civil justice in Rule of Law Index drops to 94th out of 113 countries, (Oct. 27, 2016), http://civilrighttocounsel.org/major-developments/217.
- 103 Jessica Silver-Greenberg, *To Aid Poor Tenants Facing Eviction, the City May Guarantee a Free Lawyer,* New York Times, A20 (Sept. 26, 2016), http://www.nytimes.com/2016/09/27/nyregion/legal-aid-tenants-in-new-york-housing-court.html?r=0; Ryan M. McDermott, *Tenant advocates push for legal aid bill in D.C. Council*, Washington Times (Oct. 19, 2016), https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2016/oct/19/dc-tenants-legal-aid-bill-pushed-in-council/.
- 104 David Cruz, Comptroller Stringer, Outside Bronx Housing Court, Backs Right to Counsel Bill, Norwood News (Feb. 4, 2015), available at http://www.norwoodnews.org/id=16939&story=comptroller-stringer-outside-bronx-housing-court-backs-right-to-counsel-bill/.
- 105 New York Times, Editorial: Bold Plans for New York Courts (Feb. 20, 2015), http://www.nytimes.com/2015/02/21/opinion/bold-plans-for-new-york-courts.html?r=0.
- 106 New York S2061B, available at http://open.nysenate.gov/legislation/bill/S2061B-2015.
- 107 NYC Office of Civil Justice 2016 Annual Report (June 2016), 3, https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/hra/downloads/pdf/services/ civiljustice/OCJ%202016%20Annual%20Report%20 FINAL 08 29 2016.pdf.

108 Id. at 2.

109 *ld*.

110 Id.

111 See, Jasper Scherer, D.C. Council to consider free legal help for poor residents in housing cases, Washington Post (Oct. 14, 2016), https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/dc-politics/dc-council-to-consider-free-legal-help-for-poor-residents-in-housing-cases/2016/10/14/771210ae-8f22-11e6-a6a3-d50061aa9fae_story.html.

112 Id.

- 113 Pennsylvania SB 869 (2016), available at http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/billInfo/billInfo.cfm?sYear=2015&sInd=0&body=5&type=B&bn=0869.
- 114 Pres. Barack Obama, Presidential Memorandum --Establishment of the White House Legal Aid .Interagency Roundtable, Sept. 24, 2015, <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2015/09/24/presidential-memorandum-the

- establishment-white-house-legal-aid-interagency.
- 115 See Principal Deputy Associate Attorney General Bill Baer, The White House Legal Aid Interagency Roundtable and Goal 16 One Year On, Justice Blogs (Sept. 21, 2016), https://www.justice.gov/opa/blog/white-house-legal-aid-interagency-roundtable-and-goal-16-one-year.
- 116 See General Comment 4, supra note 33, at ¶ 8(a) ("Tenure takes a variety of forms, including rental (public and private) accommodation, cooperative housing, lease, owner-occupation, emergency housing and informal settlements, including occupation of land or property. Notwithstanding the type of tenure, all persons should possess a degree of security of tenure which guarantees legal protection against forced eviction, harassment and other threats.")
- 117 See, Human Rights Committee, Concluding Observations, CCPR/C/USA/CO/4, ¶ 19, Apr. 23, 2014; Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, Concluding Observations, CERD/C/USA/CO/7-9, ¶ 12, Aug. 29, 2014; Committee Against Torture, Committee Against Torture considers report of the United States, Nov. 13, 2014; http:// www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews. aspx?NewsID=15290&LangID=E; U.N. Human Rights Council, Report of the U.N. Special Rapporteur on the Human Right to Safe Drinking Water and Sanitation, Catarina de Albuquerque, Addendum: Mission to the United States of America, ¶ 58, A/HRC/18/33/Add.4 (2011), available at http:// www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/18session/ A-HRC-18-33-Add4 en.pdf; U.N. Human Rights Council, Report of the Special Rapporteur on Adequate Housing as a Component of the Right to an Adequate Standard of Living, and on the Right to Non-Discrimination in this Context, Raquel *Rolnik, Mission to the United States of America*, ¶ 95, U.N. Doc. A/HRC/13/20/Add.4 (Feb. 12, 2012) (hereinafter "Housing Rapporteur Report"); U.N. Human Rights Council, Final Draft of the Guiding Principles on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, Submitted by the Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, Magdalena Sepúlveda Carmona, ¶¶ 65, 66(c), U.N. Doc. A/HRC/21/39 (July 18, 2012); U.N. Human Rights Council, Report of the Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, ¶¶ 48-50, 78(c), U.N. Doc. A/67/278 (Aug. 9, 2012); Special Rapporteurs on the Rights to Adequate Housing, Water and Sanitation, and Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, USA: "Moving Away from the Criminalization of Homelessness, A Step in the Right Direction" (Apr. 23, 2012), http://www.ohchr.org/en/NewsEvents/ <u>Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=12079&LangID=E.</u>
- 118 Report of the Special Rapporteur on adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living, and on the right to non-discrimination in this context, Leilani Farha, para. 91, A/HRC/31/54, Dec. 30, 2015.
- 119 Housing Not Handcuffs, supra note 7.
- 120 Id.
- 121 *Id*.
- 122 Welcome Home, supra note 6.
- 123 Housing Not Handcuffs, supra note 7.

- 124 U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness, ENDING
 HOMELESSNESS FOR PEOPLE LIVING IN ENCAMPMENTS: ADVANCING THE
 DIALOGUE (2015), http://usich.gov/issue/human-rights/effective-community-based-solutions-to-encampments/;
 INDIANAPOLIS, IN., CODE Title I, Sec. 231-501 et. seq. (2016); see also, National League of Cities, Indianapolis Ordinance on Homeless Encampments, (Apr. 2016), http://www.nlc.org/find-city-solutions/city-solutions-and-applied-research/city-practice-database/indianapolis-ordinance-on-homeless-encampments.
- 125 National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty, From Wrongs to Rights: The Case for Homeless Bill of Rights Legislation (2014), http://nlchp.org/documents/Wrongs_to_Rights HBOR.
- 126 See Western Regional Advocacy Project, Homeless Bill of Rights, http://wraphome.org/what/homeless-bill-of-rights/.
- 127 National Coalition for the Homeless, NO SAFE STREET: A SURVEY OF VIOLENCE COMMITTED AGAINST HOMELESS PEOPLE 1 (June 2016), available at: http://nationalhomeless.org/no-safe-street/.
- 128 Ibid.
- 129 Ibid.
- 130 Id. at 3.
- 131 Id., at 6-7, 68.
- 132 Timothy P. Johnson & Ingrid Graf, Unaccompanied Homeless Youth in IL: 2005, Survey Research Laboratory, College of Urban Planning and Public Affairs, University of Chicago (2005).
- 133 See Human Rights Committee, Concluding Observations, CCPR/C/USA/CO/4, ¶ 19, Apr. 23, 2014; Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, Concluding Observations, CERD/C/USA/CO/7-9, ¶ 12, Aug. 29, 2014; Committee Against Torture, Committee Against Torture considers report of the United States, Nov. 13, 2014. http:// www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews. aspx?NewsID=15290&LangID=E.; U.N. Human Rights Council, Report of the U.N. Special Rapporteur on the Human Right to Safe Drinking Water and Sanitation, Catarina de Albuquerque, Addendum: Mission to the United States of America, ¶ 58, A/HRC/18/33/Add.4 (2011), available at http:// www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/18session/ A-HRC-18-33-Add4_en.pdf; U.N. Human Rights Council, Report of the Special Rapporteur on Adequate Housing as a Component of the Right to an Adequate Standard of Living, and on the Right to Non-Discrimination in this Context, Raquel Rolnik, Mission to the United States of America, ¶ 95, U.N. Doc. A/HRC/13/20/Add.4 (Feb. 12, 2012); U.N. Human Rights Council, Final Draft of the Guiding Principles on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, Submitted by the Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, Magdalena Sepúlveda Carmona, ¶¶ 65, 66(c), U.N. Doc. A/ HRC/21/39 (July 18, 2012); U.N. Human Rights Council, Report of the Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, ¶¶ 48-50, 78(c), U.N. Doc. A/67/278 (Aug. 9, 2012); Special Rapporteurs on the Rights to Adequate Housing, Water and Sanitation, and Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, USA: "Moving Away from the Criminalization

of Homelessness, A Step in the Right Direction" (Apr. 23, 2012), http://www.ohchr.org/en/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=12079&LangID=E.

See National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty, US ICCPR Review 2014: Cruel, Inhuman, and Degrading (2014), http://youtu.be/V3hm25LE75M?list=UUdJRWWjmVSQjFgsujA8-ITA.

- 134 See U.N. WGPAD Report.
- 135 See generally, National Law Center on Homelessness and Poverty, *Racial Discrimination in Housing and Homelessness in the United States* (2014), available at http://www.nlchp.org/documents/CERD Housing Report 2014.
- 136 President's Task Force on 21st Centruy Policing, Final Report of the President's Task Force On 21st Century Policing, Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services (2015), http://www.cops.usdoj.gov/pdf/taskforce/taskforce-finalreport.pdf.
- 137 See id, at ¶98-100, 108, 109, 120.
- 138 See Rapporteur on Association & Assembly, supra note 26.
- 139 UN Human Rights Council, Report of the Special Rapporteur on the human right to safe drinking water and sanitation,
 ¶9 A/HRC/33/49 (2016), http://bit.ly/2drD7GJ (citing to references in a report highlighting criminalization practices in the United States).
- 140 UN Sustainable Development Blog *supra* note 23; New Urban Agenda, *supra* note 23, *at* ¶ 31, 33, 108.
- 141 SEARCHING OUT SOLUTIONS, supra note 9.
- 142 See United States Interagency Council on Homelessness, Human Rights and Alternatives to Criminalization, http://usich.gov/issue/human-rights.
- 143 HUD NOFA, *supra* note 10; National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty, *The Cost of CriminalizingHomelessness Just Went Up By \$1.9 Billion* (2015), http://www.nlchp.org/press_releases/2015.09.18_HUD_NOFA_criminalization.
- 144 Sec. of Housing & Urban Development Julian Castro, Remarks on Mayor's Challenge to End Veteran Homelessness Call (May 23, 2016).
- 145 *Bell v. Boise, et. al.,* 1:09-cv-540-REB, Statement of Interest of the United States (Aug. 6, 2015).
- 146 Id, at 3.
- 147 DOJ Seattle letter, *supra* note 12.
- 148 Matthew Doherty, Incarceration and Homelessness: Breaking the Cycle, Community Policing Dispatch, U.S. Dept. of Justice Community Oriented Policing Services, vol. 8, Issue 12 (Dec. 2015), https://cops.usdoj.gov/html/dispatch/12-2015/index.asp.
- 149 U.S. Dept. of Justice, Justice Department Announces Resources to Assist State and Local Reform of Fine and Fee

- Practice (Mar. 14, 2016), https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-announces-resources-assist-state-and-local-reform-fine-and-fee-practices.
- 150 Brief of United States as amicus curaie for plaintiff-appellee, Walker v. City of Calhoun, Case No. 16-10521-HH, (11th Cir. 2016).
- 151 U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness, *Driving Progress in the Year Ahead: Our Top Priorities for 2016* (2016), https://www.usich.gov/news/top-priorities-for-2016.
- 152 U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness, 10 Strategies to END CHRONIC HOMELESSNESS (2016), https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/10 Strategies to End Chronic Homelessness.pdf.
- 153 U.S. Dep't of Educ., Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory Guidance, Title VII-B of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act, as Amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act, Non-Regulatory Guidance (hereinafter "2016 McKinney-Vento Guidance"), at 14 (July 27, 2016), available at http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/essa/160240ehcyguidance072716.pdf.
- 154 See White House, supra, note 13.
- 155 See Cobine et. al. v. Eureka, No. C 16—2239 JSW (N.Dist. Ca.May 6, 2106); Smith v. City of Corvallis, No. 6:14-cv-01382-MC, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 73205, at *1-2 (D. Or. June 6, 2016); City of Everett v. Bluhm, et. al. Case No. CRP 700-, 7005, 7006, 11297, (Everett Mun. Ct., Jan. 12, 2016) (on file with author); City of North Bend v. Brashaw, No. Y123426A (Issaquah Mun. Ct., Jan. 13, 2016). See also, Bell v. Boise, et. al., 1:09-cv-540-REB, Statement of Interest of the United States (Aug. 6, 2015); Dept. of Justice, Office of Public Affairs, Justice Department Files Brief to Address the Criminalization of Homelessness (Aug. 6, 2015), http://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-files-brief-address-criminalization-homelessness.
- 156 See Norton v. City of Springfield, 612 F. App'x. 386, (7th Cir. 2015); Thayer v. City of Worcester, No. 13-40057-TSH, (D. Mass. Nov. 9, 2015); McLaughlin v. City of Lowell, No. 1:14-cv-10270, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 144336 at ## (D. Mass. Oct. 23, 2015); Browne v. City of Grand Junction, No. 14-cv-00809-CMA-KLM (D. Co Sept. 30, 2015).
- 157 UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, Women and the Right to Adequate Housing, 23, 26 (2012) https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/WomenHousing_HR.PUB.11.2.pdf.
- 158 UN Human Rights Council, Report of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences,
 85 A/HRC/17/26 (2011), http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/17session/A-HRC-17-26.pdf.
- 159 Browne, A. & Bassuk, S., Intimate Violence in the Lives of Homeless and Poor Housed Women: Prevalence and Patterns in Ethnically Diverse Sample, American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 67(2), 261-278 (April 1997); Browne, A., Responding to the Needs of Low Income and Homeless Women Who are Survivors of Family Violence, Journal of American Medical Association, 53(2), 57-64 (Spring 1998).

- 160 See generally, Criminal Justice Reform Are We Ready?, Reentry and Housing Coalition, http://www.reentryandhousing.org/ (last visited Nov. 15, 2016).
- 161 See, I Am Not A Nuisance: Local Ordinances Punish Victims of Crime, ACLU, https://www.aclu.org/other/i-am-not-nuisance-local-ordinances-punish-victims-crime?redirect=notanuisance (last visited Nov. 15, 2016).
- 162 See generally, Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013: Implementation in HUD Housing Programs, FR-5720-F-03, available at https://federalregister.gov/d/2016-25888.
- 163 *ld.*, at 11.
- 164 Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, *National and State Housing Data Fact Sheets, Federal Rental Assistance*, http://www.cbpp.org/cms/?fa=view&id=3586.
- 165 See Press Release, Dep't of Housing & Urban Dev., HUD and City of Berlin, New Hampshire, Settle Allegations of Housing Discrimination Against Victims of Domestic Violence (Feb. 19, 2015), https://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/press/press releases media advisories/2015/HUDNo 15-022).
- 166 See generally, Dep't of Housing & Urban Dev., Office of General Counsel Guidance on Application of Fair Housing Act Standards to the Enforcement of Local Nuisance and Crime-Free Housing Ordinances Against Victims of Domestic Violence, Other Crime Victims, and Others Who Require Police or Emergency Services (Sept. 13, 2016), available at http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=FinalNuisanceOrdGdnce.pdf.
- 167 Dep't of Housing & Urban Dev., Quid Pro Quo and Hostile Environment Harassment and Liability for Discriminatory Housing Practices Under the Fair Housing Act (Sept. 13, 2016), https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/14/2016-21868/quid-pro-quo-and-hostile-environment-harassment-and-liability-for-discriminatory-housing-practices.
- 168 See generally, Nat'l Housing Law Project, Housing Rights of Domestic Violence Survivors: A State and Local Law Compendium (Oct. 2015), http://cts.vresp.com/c/?NationalHousingLawPr/9beccdaf16/88ea0c68c4/4cfcf20aa7.
- 169 See generally, id.
- 170 General Comment No. 4, supra note 33, at ¶ 8(b).
- 171 See generally, National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty, This Land is Your Land: How Federal Surplus Property Can Prevent and End Homelessness, (2013), https://www.nlchp.org/documents/This_Land_Is_Your_Land.
- 172 The United States Conference of Mayors, Hunger and Homelessness Survey: A Status Report on Hunger and Homelessness in America's Cities 2 (2015), https://www.usmayors.org/pressreleases/uploads/2015/1221-report-hhreport.pdf.

- 173
- 174 H.R. 4465, 114th Cong. (2016); S. 2375, 114th Cong. (2016).
- 175 *Id.*; Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Human Right to Safe Drinking Water and Sanitation, Catarina de Albuquerque, Addendum, Mission to the United States of America, A/HRC/18/33/Add.4, Aug. 2, 2011; *see also* Special Rapporteur on the Human Right to Safe Drinking Water and Sanitation, *Stigma and the Realization of the Human Rights to Water and Sanitation*, U.N. Doc. A/HRC/21/42 (July 2, 2012).
- 176 See Michelle Chen, What if Your Water Was Too Polluted to Drink? The Nation (Oct. 30, 2015), http://www.thenation.com/article/what-if-your-tap-water-was-too-polluted-to-drink/; see also, Adam Gosztola, supra note 35; see also, Comisión Interamericana de Derechos Humanos, EEUU: Acceso al agua, YOUTUBE (Apr. 4, 2016), https://youtu.be/uNgNhuNnFWE.
- 177 See Adam Gosztola, supra, note 35.
- 178 See Adam Gostolza, supra, note 35.
- 179 See Maurikia Lyda, et. al. v. City of Detroit, Supp. Op. U.S. Bankruptcy Ct., E.D. Ml., Adv. Proceeding No. 14-04732, (Nov. 19, 2014).
- 180 See , id; see also, Tricia L. Nadolny, Council passes bill to help poor pay water bills, Philadelphia Inquirer, (Nov. 20, 2015), http://www.philly.com/philly/news/politics/20151120
 Council passes bill to help poor pay water bills.html.
- 181 Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Human Right to Safe Drinking Water and Sanitation, Catarina de Albuquerque, Addendum, Mission to the United States of America, A/HRC/18/33/Add.4, Aug. 2, 2011.
- 182 See Adam Gosztola, supra, note 35.
- 183 Special Rapporteur on Water & Sanitation Gender Report, *supra* note 139, *at* ¶ 49.
- New York, N.Y., New York City Council, Intr. 1122-A Provision of feminine hygiene products (2016), available at: http://legistar.council.nyc.gov/LegislationDetail. aspx?ID=2637117&GUID=4D97B9EE-4986-4B87-B846-2E52A329695A; New York, N. Y., New York City Council, Intr. 1123-A Provision of feminine hygiene products (2016), available at: http://legistar.council.nyc.gov/LegislationDetail. aspx?ID=2637112&GUID=31322AF8-376A-4D7F-93B2-4243BA5E4181&Options=ID%7CText%7C&Search=men strual; New York, N. Y., New York City Council, Intr. 1123-A Provision of feminine hygiene products (2016), Available at: http://legistar.council.nyc.gov/LegislationDetail. aspx?ID=2637114&GUID=834E4DFC-7F14-4E1E-812F-2CD862A4FC1D.

- 185 See Janet Upadhye, This Is How Homeless Women Cope With Their Periods, Bustle (Oct. 18, 2016), https://www.bustle.com/articles/190092-this-is-how-homeless-women-copewith-their-periods.
- 186 General Comment No. 4, *supra* note 33, at ¶ 8(c).
- 187 Out of Reach, *supra*, note 31, *at* 2; Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, America's Rental Housing: Expanding Options for Diverse and Growing Demand, (2015), 4, *available at*: http://jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/americas rental housing 2015 web.pdf.
- 188 Out of Reach 2015, *supra* note 31, *at* 5.
- 189 FiveThirtyEigt, Andres Flowers, Why So Many Poor Americans Don't Get Help Paying For Housing, September 2016, available at: http://fivethirtyeight.com/features/why-so-many-poor-americans-dont-get-help-paying-for-housing/.
- 190 *Id., at* 4; David M. Abromwitz, The Housing Market Is Not Only for Homeowners, Center for American Progress (2012), http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/housing/report/2012/12/10/47408/the-housing-market-is-not-only-for-homeowners/.
- 191 Out of Reach, supra note 31, at 5.
- 192 Id at 5.
- 193 Id.
- 194 See National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty, Statement to U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Oversight and Government Reform, Disposal of Federal Real Property: Legislative Proposals (July 27, 2011).
- 195 See HUD PIT, supra note 1.
- 196 Foscarinis, Homeless Problem Bigger, supra note 1.
- 197 STATE OF HOMELESSNESS IN AMERICA 2015, 3, supra note 4.
- 198 ED Count, *supra* note 2; America's Youngest Outcasts, *supra* note 2, 6.
- 199 *Id*.
- 200 See Simply Unacceptable, supra note 36.
- 201 See Western Regional Adovcacy Project, Without Housing:
 Decades of Federal Housing Cutbacks, Massive Homelessness, and
 Policy Failures, 2010 Update (2010).
- 202 National Low Income Housing Coalition, The Mortgage Interest

- Deduction: Frequently Asked Questions (2013), http://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/MID FAQ 4-12-13.pdf.
- 203 See, id.
- 204 Federal Housing Finance Agency, FHFA Statement on the Housing Trust Fund and Capital Magnet Fund, (Dec. 11, 2014), http://www.fhfa.gov/Media/PublicAffairs/pages/fhfastatement-on-the-housing-trust-fund-and-capital-magnet-fund.aspx/.
- 205 U.S. Dept. of Housing & Urban Development, HUD Makes \$174 Million Available Through New Housing Trust Fund, (Apr. 4, 2016), http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/press/ press_releases_media_advisories/2016/HUDNo_16-042,
- 206 The implied warranty of habitability is a legal standard developed through years of case law that states landlords have an implied obligation in their leases to maintain basic standards such as heat/cooling, pest control, and safety.
- 207 J. Peter Byrne & Michael Diamond, *Affordable Housing, Land Tenure, and Urban Policy: The Matrix Revealed,* 34 Fordham Urban L. J. 527 (March 2007).
- 208 Housing Rapporteur Report, *supra* note 117, at ¶11-12.
- 209 See Chester Hartman, A Universal Solution to the Minority Housing Problem, 71 North Carolina L. Rev. 1557 (June 1993) [hereinafter Universal Solution]; Report of the U.N. Independent Expert on Human Rights and Extreme Poverty, paras. 29, 36, 40, E/CN.4/2006/43/Add.1 (2006).
- 210 Gary W. Evans & Elyse Kantrowitz, Socioeconomic Status and Health: The Potential Role of Environmental Risk Exposure, 23 Ann. Rev. Pub. Health 303, 310 (2002).
- 211 General Comment No. 4, supra note 33, at ¶ 8(e).
- 212 Laryssa Mykyta & Suzanne Macartney, U.S. Census Bureau, Sharing a Household: Household Composition and Economic Wellbeing: 2007-2010, 1 (June 2012); Carmen DeNavas-Walt et al., U.S. Census Bureau, Income, Poverty, and Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2011, 19 (Sept. 2012) (calculation based on 19.7 million shared households in 2007 and 22.3 million shared households in 2012).
- 213 Emily A. Benfer & Amanda M. Walsh, When Poverty is the Diagnosis: The Health Effects of Living Without on the Individual, 4 Ind. J. L. & Soc. Equal. 1, 3 (2016). See also, Socioeconomic Status and Health, supra note 210, at 307; Maria Foscarinis, Brad Paul, Bruce Porter & Andrew Scherer, The Human Right to Housing: Making the Case in U.S. Advocacy, 38 Clearinghouse Rev. 97 (2004).
- 214 See Protect Your Family from Exposures to Lead, EPA, https://www.epa.gov/lead/protect-your-family-exposures-lead (last visited Oct. 22, 2016) ("Lead paint is still present in

- millions of homes, sometimes under layers of new paint.").
- 215 Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, The State of the Nation's Housing, 32 (2015), https://www.hchs.harvard.edu/files/jchs-sonhr-2015-full.pdf.
- 216 See, generally, Matthew Desmond, supra, note 34.
- 217 Desmond, supra note 34, at 65-66
- 218 Id., at 75.
- 219 See Requirements for Notification, Evaluation and Reduction of Lead-Based Paint Hazards in Federally Owned Residential Property and Housing Receiving Federal Assistance; Response to Elevated Blood Lead Levels, (proposed Sept. 1, 2016) 81 CFR 60304, Docket No. FR-5816-P-01, https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2016-09-01/pdf/2016-20955.pdf.
- 220 See Erie Family Health Center, et. al., Comments on Proposed Rule "Requirements for Notification, Evaluation and Reduction of Lead-Based Paint Hazards in Federally Owned Residential Property and Housing Receiving Federal Assistance; Response to Elevated Blood Lead Levels" (Docket No. FR-5816-P-01) (Oct. 31, 2016), https://luc.edu/media/lucedu/law/centers/healthlaw/pdfs/hjp/Erie%20Family%20Health%20Center.Health%20Justice%20Project.National%20Housing%20Law%20Project.Shriver%20Center.Lanphear.MacRoy.Comments%20on%20the%202016%20Lead%20Safe%20Housing%20Rule_FINAL%2010%2031%2016.pdf.
- 221 See id.
- 222 See Families USA, A 50-STATE LOOK AT MEDICAID EXPANSION, Available at: http://familiesusa.org/product/50-state-look-medicaid-expansion.
- 223 General Comment No. 4, supra note 33, at ¶ 8(d).
- 224 42 U.S.C. § 11302.
- 225 See National Law Center on Homelessness & Poverty, REALIZING WASHINGTON'S POTENTIAL: A REPORT ON HOEMLESSNESS & EDUCATION IN KING, PIERCE, AND SNOHOMISH COUNTIES 4-5 (2012). With the recent reauthorization of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act in 2009 as the Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapid Transition to Housing (HEARTH) Act, the HUD definition was expanded somewhat to include parts of these populations, within narrow, complicated time stipulations. A broader definition including these populations is used by the Education Department and under Head Start, the Runaway and Homeless Youth Act, the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act, the Violence Against Women Act, the Higher Education Resources and Student Assistance Program, the Higher Education Relief Opportunities for Students Act of 2001, the Keeping Children and Families Safe Act of 2003, and the School Lunch Program.

- 226 Marie Claire Tran-Leung, When Discretion Means Denial for People with Criminal Records in Federally Subsidized Housing, THE SHRIVER BRIEF (Sept. 2, 2011), http://www.theshriverbrief.org/2011/09/articles/community-justice/when-discretion-means-denial-for-people-with-criminal-records-in-federally-subsidized-housing/; Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2009. Prisoners In 2008, http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=1763.
- 227 Letter from Shaun Donovan & Sandra Henriquez to Public Housing Authorities, June 17, 2011, https://usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/Rentry_letter_from_Donovan_to_PHAs_6-17-11.pdf.
- 228 Notice PIH 2015-19, Guidance for Public Housing Agencies (PHAs) and Owners of Federally-Assisted Housing on Excluding the Use of Arrest Records in Housing Decisions (Nov. 2, 2015) http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=PIH2015-19.pdf.
- 229 U.S. Dept. of Housing & Urban Development, Office of General Counsel, Guidance on Application of Fair Housing Act Standards to the Use of Criminal Records by Providers of Housing and Real Estate-Related Transactions, (Apr. 4, 2016), http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=HUD_OGCGuidAppFHAStandCR.pdf.
- 230 See Establishing a More Effective Fair Market Rent System;
 Using Small Area Fair Market Rents in Housing Choice
 Voucher Program Instead of the Current 50th Percentile
 FMR, 81 Fed. Reg. 39218 et. seq. (proposed June 16, 2016)
 (to be codified at 24 CFR Parts 888, 982, 983, and 98), http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/press/press_releases_media_advisories/2016/HUDNo_16-092
- 231 60-Day Notice of Proposed Information Collection: Public Comment Request: Notice on Equal Access Regardless of Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity, or Marital Status for HUD's Community Planning and Development Programs, 81 Fed.Reg. 64930 (Sept. 21, 2016).
- 232 Quid Pro Quo and Hostile Environment Harassment and Liability for Discriminatory Housing Practices Under the Fair Housing Act, FR–5248–F–02, https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2016-09-14/pdf/2016-21868.pdf
- 233 National Fair Housing Alliance, 2015 Fair Housing Complaint Trends, forthcoming 2016. (document on file with authors).
- 234 General Comment No. 4, supra note 33, at ¶ 8(f).
- 235 Raj Chetty & Nathaniel Hendren, THE IMPACTS OF NEIGHBORHOODS ON INTERGENERATIONAL MOBILITY: CHILDHOOD EXPOSURE EFFECTS AND COUNTY-LEVEL ESTIMATES (2015), http://www.equality-of-opportunity.org/images/nbhds_paper.pdf; Heather Schwartz, The Century Foundation, HOUSING POLICY IS SCHOOL POLICY: ECONOMICALLY INTEGRATIVE HOUSING PROMOTES ACADEMIC SUCCESS IN MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MARYLAND (2010), https://www.tcf.org/assets/downloads/tcf-Schwartz.pdf;

- 236 See, e.g. Richard Rothstein, Modern Segregation, Economic Policy Institute (Mar. 6, 2014), http://www.epi.org/publication/modern-segregation/); Ta-Nehisi Coates, The Case for Reparations: An Intellectual Autopsy, The Atlantic (May 22, 2014), http://www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2014/05/the-case-for-reparations-an-intellectual-autopsy/371125/.
- 237 See House Rules, This American Life (Nov. 22, 2013), https://www.thisamericanlife.org/radio-archives/episode/512/house-rules.
- 238 See AFFH, supra note 21.
- 239 Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing Rule, 80 Fed. Reg. 42,272 (July 16, 2015) (to be codified at 24 C.F.R. pt. 5, 91, 92, 570, 574, 576 and 903 (2015), http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2015-07-16/pdf/2015-17032.pdf.
- 240 HUD and DOJ joint guidance, supra note 22.
- 241 See Lindsay Knotts, Federal Agencies Set a Path to End Homelessness Among American Indians and Alaska Natives, USICH Blog (Nov. 16, 2015), http://usich.gov/blog/federalagencies-set-a-path-to-end-homelessness-among-ai-an. An example is currently in focus at the ongoing standoff at the Standing Rock reservation in North Dakota. There Native Americans are protesting the Dakota Access Pipeline being routed through lands ceded to them by treaty, and under the Missouri River which supplies water to their reservation, after re-routing the pipeline further from areas where white residents live. LaDonna Brave Bull Allard, a Standing Rock Sioux representative, summed up their perception of the violation of their right to cultural adequacy in housing and land: "our sacred sites don't matter, our ways of life don't matter, our lives don't matter...We have become the disposable people." See Mark Forgarty, Ending All Native Homelessness Next Federal Target, Indian Country Today Media Network (Feb. 4, 2016), http://indiancountrytodaymedianetwork.com/2016/02/04/ ending-all-native-homelessness-next-federal-target-163302; Sue Skalicky and Monica Davey, Tension Between Police and Standing Rock Protesters Reaches Boiling Point, New York Times (Oct. 28, 2016), http://www.nytimes. com/2016/10/29/us/dakota-access-pipeline-protest.html; Tarah Demant, "We have become a disposable people": Why Amnesty went to Cannon Ball, North Dakota, Human Rights Now Blog, Amnesty International (Sept. 1, 2016), http:// blog.amnestyusa.org/uncategorized/we-have-becomea-disposable-people-why-amnesty-went-to-cannon-ballnorth-dakota/.
- 242 Issac Shapiro, *Block Grant Funding Falls Significantly Over Time, Data Show,* Center for Budget & Policy Priorities (Nov. 20, 2015), http://www.cbpp.org/blog/block-grant-funding-falls-significantly-over-time-data-show.
- 243 U.S. Dep't of Housing and Urban Development, Assessment of Native American, Alaska Native, and Native Hawaiian Housing Needs, HUD (last visited Oct. 26, 2016), http://www.huduser.org/portal/native_american_assessment/home. html.

244 See Knotts, supra note 241.

245 See, id.

NATIONAL LAW CENTER ON HOMELESSNESS & POVERTY

2000 M St., NW, Ste. 210 | Washington, DC 20036 | 202-638-2535

- www www.nlchp.org
- www.facebook.com/homelessnesslaw
- www.twitter.com/nlchphomeless
- www.homelessnesslaw.org
- www.linkedin.com/company/national-law-center-on-homelessness-and-poverty
- www.flickr.com/photos/108099087@N06/